

# UNIVERSIDAD DE INVESTIGACIÓN DE TECNOLOGÍAEEE EXPERIMENTAL YACHAY

Escuela de Ciencias Biológicas e Ingeniería

# Overview of the Synthesis Methods of Bimetallic Nanoparticles for the Formation of Silver-Palladium as a Potential Antibacterial Agent against *Staphylococcus aureus*

Trabajo de integración curricular presentado como requisito para la obtención del título de Ingeniera Biomédica.

Autor:

Emily Daniela Gallardo Andrade

# **Tutor:**

PhD. Edward Ávila Sosa

Urcuquí, Julio del 2021.



#### SECRETARÍA GENERAL (Vicerrectorado Académico/Cancillería) ESCUELA DE CIENCIAS BIOLÓGICAS E INGENIERÍA CARRERA DE BIOMEDICINA ACTA DE DEFENSA No. UITEY-BIO-2021-00024-AD

A los 16 días del mes de julio de 2021, a las 16:00 horas, de manera virtual mediante videoconferencia, y ante el Tribunal Calificador, integrado por los docentes:

Presidente Tribunal de Defensa	Dr. SINCHE CHELE, FEDERICO LEONARDO , Ph.D.
Miembro No Tutor	Dr. GUDIÑO GOMEZJURADO, MARCO ESTEBAN , Ph.D.
Tutor	Dr. AVILA SOSA, EDWARD EBNER , Ph.D.

El(la) señor(ita) estudiante GALLARDO ANDRADE, EMILY DANIELA, con cédula de identidad No. 1717942880, de la ESCUELA DE CIENCIAS BIOLÓGICAS E INGENIERÍA, de la Carrera de BIOMEDICINA, aprobada por el Consejo de Educación Superior (CES), mediante Resolución RPC-SO-43-No.496-2014, realiza a través de videoconferencia, la sustentación de su trabajo de titulación denominado: Overview of the Synthesis Methods of Bimetallic Nanoparticles for the Formation of Silver-Palladium as a Potential Antibacterial Agent against Staphylococcus aureus, previa a la obtención del título de INGENIERO/A BIOMÉDICO/A.

El citado trabajo de titulación, fue debidamente aprobado por el(los) docente(s):

Tutor Dr. AVILA SOSA, EDWARD EBNER , Ph.D.

Y recibió las observaciones de los otros miembros del Tribunal Calificador, las mismas que han sido incorporadas por el(la) estudiante.

Previamente cumplidos los requisitos legales y reglamentarios, el trabajo de titulación fue sustentado por el(la) estudiante y examinado por los miembros del Tribunal Calificador. Escuchada la sustentación del trabajo de titulación a través de videoconferencia, que integró la exposición de el(la) estudiante sobre el contenido de la misma y las preguntas formuladas por los miembros del Tribunal, se califica la sustentación del trabajo de titulación con las siguientes calificaciones:

Тіро	Docente	Calificación
Tutor	Dr. AVILA SOSA, EDWARD EBNER , Ph.D.	10,0
Presidente Tribunal De Defensa	Dr. SINCHE CHELE, FEDERICO LEONARDO , Ph.D	. 10,0
Miembro Tribunal De Defensa	Dr. GUDIÑO GOMEZJURADO, MARCO ESTEBAN , Ph.D.	10,0

Lo que da un promedio de: 10 (Diez punto Cero), sobre 10 (diez), equivalente a: APROBADO

Para constancia de lo actuado, firman los miembros del Tribunal Calificador, el/la estudiante y el/la secretario ad-hoc.

Certifico que en cumplimiento del Decreto Ejecutivo 1017 de 16 de marzo de 2020, la defensa de trabajo de titulación (o examen de grado modalidad teórico práctica) se realizó vía virtual, por lo que las firmas de los miembros del Tribunal de Defensa de Grado, constan en forma digital.

Gallandrade

GALLARDO ANDRADE, EMILY DANIELA Estudiante

Dr. SINCHE CHELE, FEDERICO LEONARDO , Ph.D. Presidente Tribunal de Defensa



Dr. AVILA SOSA, EDWARD EBNER , Ph.D. Tutor

Dr. GUDIÑO GOMEZJURADO, MARCO ESTEBAN , Ph.D. Miembro No Tutor

ALARCON FELIX, KARLA ESTEFANIA Secretario Ad-hoc

# AUTORÍA

Yo, **EMILY DANIELA GALLARDO ANDRADE**, con cédula de identidad 1717942880, declaro que las ideas, juicios, valoraciones, interpretaciones, consultas bibliográficas, definiciones y conceptualizaciones expuestas en el presente trabajo; así cómo, los procedimientos y herramientas utilizadas en la investigación, son de absoluta responsabilidad de el/la autor(a) del trabajo de integración curricular. Así mismo, me acojo a los reglamentos internos de la Universidad de Investigación de Tecnología Experimental Yachay.

Urcuquí, Julio del 2021.

D.Gallandrade

Emily Daniela Gallardo Andrade

CI: 1717942880

# AUTORIZACIÓN DE PUBLICACIÓN

Yo, **EMILY DANIELA GALLARDO ANDRADE**, con cédula de identidad 1717942880, cedo a la Universidad de Tecnología Experimental Yachay, los derechos de publicación de la presente obra, sin que deba haber un reconocimiento económico por este concepto. Declaro además que el texto del presente trabajo de titulación no podrá ser cedido a ninguna empresa editorial para su publicación u otros fines, sin contar previamente con la autorización escrita de la Universidad.

Asimismo, autorizo a la Universidad que realice la digitalización y publicación de este trabajo de integración curricular en el repositorio virtual, de conformidad a lo dispuesto en el Art. 144 de la Ley Orgánica de Educación Superior.

Urcuquí, Julio del 2021.

D.Gallandrade

Emily Daniela Gallardo Andrade

CI: 1717942880

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank **God** for giving me faith in myself and helping us out even when we felt hopeless. Thanks for letting me get here.

I acknowledge my beloved family for being the air of my existence. Thanks to my dear parents, **Heidy** and **Roberto**, for giving me the strongest, sweetest love; for always putting us first, and for teaching me that I must make my way; thanks for believing in me, and for helping me out every day: from a nice meal to signal theory reports. Thanks to my dear brother, **Robertito**, for taking such good care: of my parents when I could not, of us during the pandemic, and of me, all my life.

I would like to thank **Yachay Tech University** for aiming for scientific excellence in a small country like ours, Ecuador. Thanks to all who believe in the project and the students.

A special thanks to my thesis tutor, **Edward Ávila**, who was always open to my ideas and routed them positively into this project. Thanks for supporting me, for sharing your knowledge, and make a great effort in the development of the present thesis. Thanks to my thesis court professors **Federico S.** and **Marco G.** for your contributions, commentaries and time invested in the present document.

Thanks to **Si Amar** for being my mentor ever since I learned about the nanotechnology field; thanks for guiding me throughout the development of this project with patience and faith. And thanks to all the kind **teachers** who taught and guided me during my career.

Finally, I would like to thank the dear friends who have been with me all these years. Thanks always, **Dayita**, for your advice, food, and kindness. Thanks, **Mabe**, for always being the nicest roommate and friend. Thanks, **Lupe**, for always being on my team. Thanks, **Micky**, for always being that true friend I needed. Thanks, **Carlos**, for your help, teach, and company. Thanks to all of you for being the best adventure companions and my support throughout this stage. Moreover, thanks to all the dear **friends** who, in due time supported me.

I dedicate the present work to my beloved family:

To my mom, Heidy, and my father, Roberto, for your humble working life that has given me everything in this life. To my brother, Robertito, for being motivation in every step of my life and for letting me take some more time to myself, just to get back on my feet.

Emily Daniela Gallardo Andrade

### Resumen

Durante las últimas décadas, las propiedades antibacterianas de las nanopartículas han sido el centro de estudio de muchas investigaciones a nivel mundial, sin embargo, no siempre se obtiene la adecuada morfología, tamaño ni química de la superficie, parámetros que son elementales para sus propiedades antibacterianas. Es por esto por lo que las nanopartículas deben ser desarrolladas con una síntesis controlada, cuyos principales parámetros nos ayuden a obtener un tipo de agente antibacteriano eficaz, duradero, estable y sobre todo que no conlleve más problemas a la naturaleza como lo son los químicos peligrosos.

La resistencia de la bacteria *Staphylococcus aureus* a los antibióticos es un asunto alarmante a nivel mundial debido a la rápida habilidad que tiene para adaptarse, estudios recientes demuestran que tanto la penicilina como la meticilina han perdido su efecto contra esta bacteria en más del 80% de los casos; por lo cual, la búsqueda de un agente antibacteriano cuya eficacia no se vea afectada es urgente. Varios estudios han demostrado que las bacterias no pueden tan rápidamente adquirir resistencia a las nanopartículas como a los fármacos, por lo que el desarrollo de nuevos estudios para mejorar la producción de nanopartículas es necesario.

En el presente trabajo se hace una revisión bibliográfica en la que se estudian diversas técnicas de síntesis de nanopartículas bimetálicas; síntesis que tiene el principal objetivo de desarrollar una formación controlada de nanopartículas de Ag-Pd como potencial agente antibacteriano para su uso en la bacteria *Staphylococcus aureus*.

**Palabras Clave:** Antibacterial, Nanoparticulas Bimetalicas, Staphylococcus aureus, Síntesis Verde.

### Abstract

During the last decades, the antibacterial properties of inorganic nanoparticles have been the focus of very intense and prolific research worldwide. However, it is challenging to obtain good morphology, size, and surface chemistry that constitute basic parameters for their antibacterial properties are not always achieved. For this reason, nanoparticles must be developed with a controlled synthesis, whose main parameters help us to obtain a type of practical, durable, stable antibacterial agent that does not lead to more problems for nature, such as dangerous chemicals.

The resistance of *Staphylococcus aureus* to antibiotics is an alarming worldwide issue due to the rapid ability this bacterium has to adapt to new pharmaceutics. Recent studies show that both penicillin and methicillin have lost their effect against it in more than 80% of the cases; therefore, the search for an antibacterial agent whose efficacy is not affected is urgent. Several studies have shown that bacteria cannot acquire resistance to nanoparticles as quickly as to drugs; therefore, new studies to improve the production of inorganic nanoparticles with desired antibacterial properties are necessary.

In the present work, a bibliographic review is developed to overview various techniques for synthesizing bimetallic nanoparticles and their characterization along with their unique properties. This synthesis offers the main objective of the controlled formation of bimetallic Ag-Pd alloy nanoparticles, making them a potential antibacterial agent against Staphylococcus aureus.

Keywords: Bimetallic Nanoparticles, Staphylococcus aureus, Green Synthesis, Antibacterial.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Resumen	VI
Abstract	VII
List of Figures	X
List of Tables	XI
Abbreviations	XI
CHAPTER I	1
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Problem Approach	2
1.2 Objectives	3
1.2.1 General Objective	3
1.2.2 Specific Objectives	3
CHAPTER II	4
2. NANOPARTICLES	4
2.1 History	4
2.2 Properties	5
2.2.5 Chemical Properties	9
2.3 Characterization techniques applied to NPs	10
2.4 Applications	17
2.5 Silver Nanoparticles	19
2.6 Palladium Nanoparticles	20
CHAPTER III	21
3. BIMETALLIC NANOPARTICLES	21
3.1 Synthesis of Bimetallic Nanoparticles	22
3.1.1 Top-down Approach	23
3.1.2 Bottom-Up approach	25
3.1.3 Green Synthesis	
3.2 Controlled Synthesis	
CHAPTER IV	
4. PALLADIUM-SILVER NANOPARTICLES	
4.1 Biomedical Applications	40
CHAPTER V	

5. ANTIBACTERIAL APPLICATION	43
5.1 Staphylococcus Aureus	43
5.1.1 Staphylococcus Aureus effects on Human Health	44
5.1.2 Treatments for <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> infections	46
5.2 Antibiotic Resistance	46
5.2.1 Antibacterial mechanism of NPs	47
ii. Reactive Oxygen Species	48
iii. Homeostasis Disturbance	49
5.3 Physicochemical Properties for Antibacterial Applications	49
5.4 Green Synthesis Techniques used for Antibacterial Activity	51
5.5 Parameter Analysis for Proper Controlled Synthesis	52
CHAPTER VI	53
6. CONCLUSIONS	53
6.1 Limitations and Outlooks	54
BIBLIOGRAPHY	55

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Lycurgus Cup.	5
Figure 2. Surface Plasmon Resonance of noble metal NPs	б
Figure 3. Nanoparticle Shapes.	8
Figure 4. XRD graphic process1	1
Figure 5. Scheme of a UV/VIS Spectrophotometer	2
Figure 6. Transmission Electron Microscopy Technique1	3
Figure 7. Scanning Electron Microscopy1	3
Figure 8. X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy14	4
Figure 9. Dynamic Light Scattering1	5
Figure 10. Atomic Force Microscopy10	б
Figure 11. Fourier Transform Infra-Red Spectrometer10	б
Figure 12. Morphologies of bimetallic nanoparticles2	1
Figure 13. Nanofabrication Methods	2
Figure 14. Electromagnetic Spectrum	1
Figure 15. Staphylococcus aureus cellular membrane44	4
Figure 16. Kiviat/ Radar Chart of some synthesis techniques for proper antibacterial applications	2

## **List of Tables**

Table 1. Review of the top-down nanofabrication methods for bimetallic Pd-based and Ag	-
based alloy NPs.	.34
Table 2. Review of the bottom-up nanofabrication methods	35
Table 3. Illnesses and their mortality rate caused by S. aureus.	45
Table 4. Classification of the synthesis methods depending on the sizes and shapes of the	
bimetallic NPs	.51

#### Abbreviations

NP	= Nano	oparticle
----	--------	-----------

- BMNP = Bimetallic Nanoparticle
- SPR = Surface Plasmon Resonance
- MRI = Magnetic Resonance Imaging
- ROS = Reactive Oxygen Species
- GF = Growth Factor
- GI = Gastrointestinal
- NS = Nervous System
- IV = Intravenous
- ISO = International Standardization Organization
- WHO = World Health Organization
- PVP = Polyvinylpyrrolidone
- PEG = Polyethylene Glycol
- PAA = Polyacrylic Acid

## **CHAPTER I**

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

*Staphylococcus aureus* has been an essential participant in nature for millennia. This Grampositive bacterium infections, like bacteremia has a mortality rate of ~20% worldwide; this percentage represents a more significant number of deaths than combined with acquired Immunodeficiency syndromes (AIDS), like tuberculosis, and viral hepatitis;<sup>1</sup> this mortality rate have been shown to be directly affected by many factors like age, making the elderly the most susceptible group. Its infection is associated with virulence factors like exoproteins, which favor surface adhesion, invasion, and evasive immunity leading to the toxic response of the patient. *Staphylococcus aureus* bacterium can trigger an infection, directly affect organ functions, and provoke death.

Multiple efforts are continuously performed to prevent, treat, and heal *S. aureus* infections. However, this bacterium has continuously developed resistance to the new classes of antibiotics. This bacterium remains and will remain a hazardous, challenging pathogen for nature, patients, and medical personnel until an effective antibiotic is developed.<sup>2</sup> Antibacterial resistance of *S. aureus* has specific mechanisms by which it can acquire immunity. Some of these are the production of enzymes like  $\beta$ -lactamase to degrade the drug or the cell wall adaptability to express or inhibit efflux pumps.<sup>3</sup> Despite these, none known mechanism can stop the interaction of NPs with the bacterial cell wall, raising a relevant source of investigation to develop potential antibacterial agents that could become more efficient than regular antibiotics.

The synthesis of nanoparticles has been an ever-growing field in science and engineering. Their functionalization and application are critical aspects to investigate. These particles are crucial for the creation and improvement of innovative structures for medical and material sciences. As mentioned above, one of their promising applications is their bactericidal activity to act as "inorganic antibiotics". Many studies have presented the utilization of nanoparticles as a potential antibacterial agent, especially those made of metals, such as silver.<sup>4</sup> Kim et al. demonstrated that tiny silver-based NPs presented an increased ability to attach and penetrate

the cell wall of bacteria; as a result, this provokes an irreversible membrane damage by pore enlargement that leads to cell death.<sup>5</sup>

The application of these nanoparticles has also risen studies to enhance their functionality and reproducibility to form efficient, easy to use and reliable antibacterial agents. Hence, the implementation of multiple compositions and combinations of nanoparticles has been widely discussed in the literature. One of these potential combinations lies in bimetallic systems, whose bacterial activity is greatly dependent of the geometrical structure and size. Bimetallic nanoparticles (BMNPs) accomplish chemical, physical, and catalytic processes that their monometallic counterparts cannot. Therefore, the introduction of other metals may improve the antibacterial activity of the silver nanoparticles, for instance.

Silver-Palladium bimetallic nanoparticles have proven enhanced antibacterial yield. These can be synthesized by two main approaches of nanotechnology, which are the top-down and bottom-up methods. However, their nanofabrication has not yet allowed to control their features that would be suitable for the antibacterial applications. Size and morphology, for example, may be altered from minimal variations in the system. The unreacted organic surfactants may adsorb to the NP surface, thus decreasing their functionality.<sup>6</sup> For these reasons, a fully controlled synthesis process is required to enable the industry to develop cost-effective, greener, scalable, and optimal nanoparticle-based antibacterial.

In this bibliographic review, the methods for the synthesis and characterization of nanoparticles are discussed to support the development of bimetallic nanoparticles as an enhanced agent to use in antibacterial applications. The present work aims at overviewing the controlled synthesis via green chemistry, yielding bimetallic Ag-Pd nanoparticles of desired properties, such as size and morphology, along with their outstanding activity against *Staphylococcus aureus*.

#### **1.1 Problem Approach**

The acute development of antibiotic resistance has created a risk to public human health. There are many questions about the increasing bacterial ability to resist bactericidal agents. A reasonable answer to that is the rapidity by which bacteria mutate and multiplicate; on the other hand, patient's compliance is questionable too. These lead bacteria to adapt to their changing

environment. This problem has caused many developed antibiotics to be no longer capable of fulfilling their purposes effectively. Hence the need to produce innovative, facile, and efficient antibacterial agents has become a crucial issue for public health to contain and combat cross-contamination outbreaks.

For the past decades, nanoscience and nanotechnology have offered multiple, innovative applications in different areas, like engineering, material sciences, and biomedical field. Furthermore, numerous studies highlight the promise of nanoparticles as efficient, novel bactericidal agents, making these potential complements to traditional antibiotics. However, the scalable synthesis of nanoparticles with controlled properties requires further investigations towards their efficient, facile, rapid, and green production. The present study provides alternative methods to traditional synthesis techniques by highlighting some recent investigations that utilized greener agents and combined methods to achieve controlled properties.

#### **1.2 Objectives**

#### 1.2.1 General Objective

To overview the best synthesis methods to obtain bimetallic palladium-silver nanoparticles according to the green synthesis criteria, size, and morphology to optimize their antibacterial activity.

#### 1.2.2 Specific Objectives

- i. To compare the various synthesis techniques.
- ii. To achieve an analysis considering green synthesis vs controlled nanoparticle formation.
- To overview the potential of bimetallic Ag-Pd nanoparticle as antibacterial agent against Staphylococcus aureus.
- iv. To analyze the impact of NPs' size and morphology on their antibacterial activity.
- v. To sum-up the information regarding their antibacterial properties.

## **CHAPTER II**

#### 2. NANOPARTICLES

The prefix 'nano' comes from the Greek for dwarf and represents 10<sup>-9</sup> or one over 1'000 000 000. Therefore, a nanometer (nm) is the billionth part of a meter. According to the International Standardization Organization (ISO), the nanoscale ranges between 1 to 100 nm.<sup>7</sup> Nanoscience brings together the study of all nanostructures. Hence, nanoscience studies the manipulation of atomic matter at molecular and macromolecular levels; at this scale, physical and chemical properties vary significantly depending on minimum variations. Nanotechnology is the field that deals with the design, synthesis, and characterization of NMs and aims to improve nanoscience to produce nanoparticles for potential novel applications.<sup>8</sup> Nanoparticles are particles with a nanoscale structure and present enhanced optical, electrical, chemical, magnetic, and thermal properties.<sup>9</sup> These nanoparticles occur naturally, or humans have produced them due to the combustion or milling of ordinary things for thousands of years.

#### 2.1 History

Evidence supports the first civilizations using nanoparticles due to their enhanced optical and medicinal properties, such as Romans and Egyptians in the IVe and Ve centuries BC. For example, colloidal dissolutions were used in Egypt as eternal youth elixirs or medicine. The Maya civilization used nanomaterials and the production of dyes, which resulted in highly perdurable colorants. The Chinese civilization used various nanoparticles for medical and ornamental purposes. The father of modern medicine, Hippocrates, thought of silver for disease prevention and special healing properties<sup>10</sup>. The Romans used colloidal gold (31%), silver (66%) and copper (3%) nanoparticles in the *Lycurgus Cup*,<sup>11</sup> for decorative purposes. As it is observed in Figure 1, it presents an interesting optical phenomenon: when illuminated from the outside or the inside, it displays different colorations. This cup is recognized as one of the oldest synthetic nanocomposites, explaining scattering and absorption of spherical particles.



Figure 1. Lycurgus Cup. Obtained from the online British Museum's Collection.

Another relevant example took place in the 18<sup>th</sup> century by applying silver nanoparticles to photography; they triggered the development of photographic films due to their light-sensitive properties, which served as pixels of an image.<sup>12</sup> In 1960, the physicist and father of the nanoscience Richard Feynman said at a scientific conference: "There is plenty of room at the bottom":<sup>7</sup> with these words, he promoted and predicted the advances that the scientific community would achieve in developing and manipulating nanostructures over decades to come. However, the term nanotechnology was not used until 1974, when the Japanese scientist N. Taniguchi referred to the possibility of performing engineered materials at a nanoscale level.<sup>8</sup> Nowadays, nanoparticles are exploited in many industrial and medical fields to enhance traditional processes or innovate and provide solutions.

#### **2.2 Properties**

The potential applications of nanoparticles result from their unique properties; these give them special characteristics that are highly differentiated from their bulk or atomic characteristics. Some of the fundamental properties that make the NPs an excellent source for investigation are mechanical, optical, magnetic, physical and chemical properties:

#### 2.2.1 Mechanical properties

Mechanical properties of the NPs can be defined as the properties that these possess to resist a physical force applied to the particle. The mechanical properties will determine the efficacy for

some applications like enhanced nanomaterials. These mechanical properties of NPs are divided into three main categories: a) hardness, which can be measured by the analysis of the particles' deformation with Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM), and its comparison with bulk material to determine size particle dependence. b) Adhesion or friction can be measured by attaching the particle to the AFM tip to assess the force between them. Finally, c) movement, in which it can track the particle motion without stimuli by fluorescence microscopy or under mechanical forces by Transmission Electron Microscopy observations.<sup>13</sup>

#### 2.2.2 Optical

One of the most relevant properties of metallic NPs is the localized Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR), which occurs as the frequency of the incident light matches the oscillation of electrons at the surface of a metal.<sup>14</sup> Noble metal bimetallic nanoparticles exhibit strong plasmon resonances, which could be controlled by varying their composition. This unique property is attributed to the collective excitation of the particles' electrons, which periodic change in electron density can be seen on the surface.<sup>15</sup> As shown in Figure 2, when the particles are smaller than the visible light wavelength, the solution acquires an element-dependent coloration and absorbance band. The interaction between the incident light and the free electrons of the particles. Surface plasmon of the NP can be used to determine the charges required for the correct interaction with other surfaces or macromolecules. For example, silver NPs may present a yellow/brown color while palladium NPs may present a brownish/black color; both have different colors compared to their bulk material.



Figure 2. Surface Plasmon Resonance of noble metal NPs. Created with BioRender. Adapted from Ref. <sup>14</sup>.

#### 2.2.3 Magnetic

Magnetic properties of NPs allow the control of the motion of the particles. Bimetallic alloys have exhibited high magnetic moment and are reported to have the highest saturation magnetization value. Therefore, the combination of metals enhances magnetic moments and enlarges anisotropy.<sup>16</sup>

Supreparamagnetism is a form of magnetism which appears in ferromagnetic NPs, this property depends on the size of the NPs, in which under special circumstances (temperature), the magnetic forces can randomly flip direction. Supramagnetism offers enhanced magnetic spin behaviors; this phenomenon is fundamental for characterization techniques, bioimaging like MRI or fluorescence, therapeutics like thermal processes or drug release, and cell control angiogenesis.<sup>17</sup> Magnetic nanoparticles are of great interest in several biomedical applications, such as catalysis, magnetic resonance imagining, environmental decontamination, biosensing, and drug delivery systems. The literature presents a more extraordinary performance of NPs when the size is under a critical value.<sup>18</sup>

#### 2.2.4 Physical

i. Size

Size is the spatial dimension, proportion, or magnitude that an object occupies in space. As explained before, nanoscale may vary from 1 nm to 100 nm; however, multiple parameters depend on the size that the synthesis produces. NPs' properties present dependence mainly on the size by which it was synthesized. At the nanoscale, minimal changes in the size may present huge, varied optical, chemical, catalytical, and antibacterial properties. The high surface area to volume ratio is directly related with the size of a NP. In general, a material with higher surface area to volume ratio, shows faster interaction with the environment, than a plain material. When the size of the NP is reduced, the surface area to volume ratio is increased. However, smaller NP size tend to be less stable.<sup>19</sup>

The study of this physical property can be divided into three main aspects: first, the physical dimensions of its atomic structure; then, the study of the size on a specific matrix, depending on the diffusion/sedimentation ability of the NP; and the size weighted by its mass/electron distribution.<sup>20</sup> High-resolution microscopy techniques can perform size analysis.

#### ii. Morphology

Structural properties may vary into different geometries and shapes. NPs that have distinct morphologies can present similar nanometric sizes, dimensions, and compositions. However, similar nanoparticles could differ drastically on their behaviors, like surface binding abilities, cellular interactions, optical and plasmonic properties.<sup>21</sup> According to the geometry, nanomaterials can be divided into Zero-dimensional nanoparticles prepared by chemical syntheses and produce nanospheres, nanopolyhedrons, nanoframes, and concavity parameters; these nanoparticles show any dimension outside the nanoscale. One-dimensional nanoparticles, present one dimension outside the nanoscale and could be presented as nanowires, nanorods, or nanotubes. Moreover, Two-dimensional nanoparticles are commonly nanosheets, nanoplates, or nanoribbons. Three-dimensional nanomaterials are not limited by the nanoscale in any dimension; for example, multi-nanolayers. In general, the properties of a material are the consequence of the forces over it; however, at the nanoscale, an important effect over the size and geometry of the NPs is the Quantum effect. This event is the interaction of the atoms and individual molecules as the size of a particle is reduced to nanometric; consequently, the NPs present different properties, altering their behavior.<sup>22</sup>

As observed in Figure 3, taken from Dykman et al., gold plasmon-resonance NPs were characterized to compare the various types of morphologies: a) spherical, b) nanorods, c) bipyramids, d) nanorods with silver core, e) nanorods with gold core, f) nanosheets, g) nanobowls, h) spike nanoshells, i) octahedra, j) nanocubes, k) nanocages and l) nanonecklaces. The different synthesis methods displayed various morphologies; And, for the varied applications, it is noticed that smaller nanoparticles presented less stability, tending to form clusters.<sup>23</sup>



Figure 3. Nanoparticle Shapes. Adapted from Ref. <sup>24</sup>.

#### *iii.* Crystallinity

The crystallinity of nanoparticles refers to the atomic-structural order inside a particle. Most solids are crystalline as their atoms possess three dimensions. This order can determine different properties depending on a long or short-range order, determining a solid to be a crystal or an amorphous material.<sup>12</sup> At the nanoscale, crystallinity can be studied through the analysis of the disorder inside a system. The crystallinity of a nanoparticle can help in the development and controlled synthesis of porous nanomaterials; literature shows that crystal lattice can control the pore size and the porosity when the crystal structure is known.<sup>20</sup> Due to enhanced characteristics that deviate from respective bulk material in a size-dependent manner, nanocrystalline materials provide exciting properties for multiple applications, such as drug delivery technology for controlled release of the drug.<sup>25</sup>

#### 2.2.5 Chemical Properties

#### *i.* Surface chemistry

The surface of a nanoparticle is a fundamental parameter for many applications, like antibacterial processes and catalysis. The performance of a NP nanoparticle highly depends on its surface chemistry as this constitutes the interface by which the NPs interact with other particles, molecules, and biological entities. The surface presents a specific charge that primarily affects the NP behavior in different environments and controls the NPs aggregation and stability.<sup>26</sup> The surface chemistry of the nanoparticles is a strong parameter to consider, especially on porous, concave, or hollow morphologies in which NPs exhibit a very high surface area.<sup>27</sup> The surface charge of a particle is related to the surface area; the charge distributes over the surface, hence, a smaller surface area would "pileup" the charge, provoking a stronger repulsion or attraction to other particle. Zeta potential technique is the study of the surface charge, in which the difference of the electric potential between the stationary layer and the surrounding charges is calculated. Therefore, it has been established that NP suspensions that present a zeta potential higher or equal to 15 mV are considered stable; to keep colloidal stability: lower attractive wan der Waals forces imply that the zeta potential should be significantly lower.<sup>28</sup> Hence, surface chemistry is an important property to control during the synthesis of nanoparticles to ensure their correct stability and functionality.

#### *ii.* Hydrophobicity or hydrophilicity

The surface chemistry discussed above, influence the exchange reactions depending on the chemical ligand bonded to the metal surface. Furthermore, the stabilization of the NPs is regularly influenced by the ligands; this process will lead to Coulombic repulsions depending on the chemical structure of the ligands.<sup>29</sup> Hence, water dispersion (wettability) of nanoparticles can be studied to understand many criteria like hydrophobicity or hydrophilicity. In the first case, water repulsion can determine toxicity levels against biological entities and in the second case, water affinity could determine a homogenous water dispersion. These properties are essential for the dispersion in the media and the prevention of aggregation as these are critical for biological purposes like drug delivery technology for direct interactions with the cell wall, like antibacterial property.<sup>29</sup> Besides, hydrophobicity and hydrophilicity can determine the potential toxicity of NPs; then, these are relevant parameters to prevent, for example, organic antifouling coatings materials,<sup>30</sup> especially against biofilm formation, is an enclosed matrix that bacteria generate to survive a hostile environment or chemical stress.

#### 2.3 Characterization techniques applied to NPs

In 1981, the International Business Machines (IBM) team created an instrument named scanning tunneling microscope that allowed to capture of an image of the atomic structure of the matter.<sup>7</sup> This characterization technique led to discovering some properties at the nanoscale and presented the necessity of creating new screening techniques to see and analyze new physicochemical attributes for the NPs. As mentioned in section 2.2, metallic NPs present unique physicochemical, electrical, catalytic, and antibacterial properties. However, to provide evidence of the NP properties and their applicability, characterization is required to determine surface chemistry, size, morphology, and dispersion of the NPs. Some of the most used characterization techniques reported in the literature are discussed in the following sections:

#### i. X-Ray Diffraction

Diffraction results from the radiation dispersion regularly from dispersive centers, of which space is equal to the radiation wave.<sup>31</sup> In 1912, Von Laue postulated that if X-rays are waves

and atoms are comparable to a wavelength, the atoms can diffract them. Therefore, X-rays are scattered by the electron atoms.<sup>32</sup> However, as the atom is heavier than the electrons, the atom will not be scattering the X-rays. With this principle, the X-ray Diffraction (XRD), as a characterization technique, analyzes parameter changes, such as the crystalline structure and nature of the medium phase, and the relationship between these parameters and the varying shape and size of the nanoparticles.<sup>33</sup> In nanoscience, XRD can be used to determine the composition of the particles by comparing the position and the intensity of the peaks. As it is presented in Figure 4, for the characterization, the source is pointed towards the sample, the incident beam (with known angle) will be refracted in the nanoparticle's surface. Therefore, the detector will be obtaining the angle in which the incident beam was refracted, and this information will be driven to a computer that will compare these two angles to give a predictive representation of the nanoparticle's size and atomic structure.<sup>31</sup>



Figure 4. XRD graphic process. Created with BioRender. Adapted from Ref. <sup>31</sup>.

#### *ii.* UV-Visible Spectroscopy

Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy (UV-Vis) is based on the capacity of a sample to absorb light when illuminated with electromagnetic rays in the visible and adjacent ranges of the light spectrum.<sup>34</sup> UV-Vis determines the concentration or number of particles in a sample; Through a calculation based on the wavelength of the materials of the NPs, the amount of NPs is determined. Hence, it provides an advantageous and reliable technique to analyze the successful synthesis and stability; also, to provide quality control of the as-synthesized NPs, by the measurement of the light intensity that passes through the sample and comparing them with the intensity of light that passes through a blank.



Figure 5. Scheme of a UV/VIS Spectrophotometer. Created with BioRender. Adapted from Ref. <sup>34</sup>.

As observed in Figure 5, the light source presents a specific direction towards the detection system, and the sample is placed in the middle. During the light emission, the light passes through a disperser, which will scatter the white light into its components; the sample cuvette serves as a filter, and only some wavelengths will cross it. These will get caught by the detector and transmitted to the recorder. For example, silver NPs show their conductivity band close to the valence band; consequently, the free electrons in resonance with the light wave led to an absorption band of SPR. The absorption depends on the particle size, dielectric medium, and surface chemistry.<sup>35</sup>

#### iii. Transmission Electron Microscopy

This characterization technique generates micrographs of NPs with a high lateral spatial resolution, and the same resolution can go to a high resolution down to 0.05 nm. In Transmission electron microscopy (TEM), an electron beam is used to develop an image of a nanoparticle structure surface, by the interaction of transmitted electrons with the atoms of the NPs. This characterization technique produces a visual crystallographic description of the structure, size, and shape single-particle level or a more significant scale to determine size distribution.<sup>36</sup> As displayed in Figure 6, electrons are projected to form an incident light source, then they are transmitted through the sample and scattered. Later, the electrons are focused on an objective lens, and finally, this lens will amplify and produce a signal which will be transformed by a display to create an image.<sup>12</sup> In this process, the sample preparation is needed to be as thin as possible to obtain a clear image; therefore, this part of the characterization can be time-consuming and expensive.



Figure 6. Transmission Electron Microscopy Technique. Created with BioRender. Adapted from Ref. <sup>12</sup>.

#### iv. Scanning Electron Microscopy

This characterization technique aims to obtain information about the surface or topography of the NP; this process is carried out by the identification of the secondary electrons emitted from the sample as it interacts with the electron beam.<sup>37</sup> Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) is a widely used characterization technique; it can provide a digital resolution of ~10 nm and display a chemical analysis. As shown in Figure 7, the sample surface study is carried out by measuring the amount of elastically backscattered electrons, which the detector will obtain. The interaction between the focused electrons and the NP will present the information for the micrographs interpretation.<sup>20</sup> SEM micrographs take place at low pressure, making viable the characterization of nonconductive NPs. Working at lower pressures reduces electron scattering, improves the signal-noise ratio, and achieves a more focused beam current. The control over these parameters will present an enhanced image and effective X-ray analysis.<sup>38</sup>



Figure 7. Scanning Electron Microscopy. Created with BioRender. Adapted from Encyclopedia Britannica, Inc.

#### v. X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy

This characterization technique is based on detecting photoelectrons from a nanoparticle; the emitted signal results from the X-ray single-energy photons irradiated on the sample. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) is due to the photoelectric effect discovered by Hertz in 1887.<sup>39</sup> As shown in Figure 8; the incident X-ray photons can penetrate a few micrometers into the nanoparticle. Thus, XPS is a sensitive surface characterization technique, owing to the short path the photons pass through. The free path range is around 0.5 nm to 3 nm; therefore, the short-range of these photons into the sample will prevent inelastic scattering.<sup>40</sup> The photons' emission is the characteristic energy of each metal; the binding energy is measured from the electron ejected from the kinetic energy. This synthesis technique is used for various NPs, as it presents a non-disruptive penetration, it can identify all elements except for H or He and can determine the surface chemistry.<sup>39</sup>



Figure 8. X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy. Created with BioRender. Adapted from Ref. <sup>39</sup>.

#### vi. Dynamic Light Scattering

This technique is used to determine the hydrodynamic size and particle distribution on a solution; it depends on the interaction between the light and the NP. Dynamic light scattering (DLS) can characterize a nanoparticle from 1 nm up to 500 nm.<sup>41</sup> Particles can be determined from a suspended liquid, and light is scattered off the particles in suspension. The variation in the intensity is produced by the NPs and collected for the normalized analysis.<sup>42</sup> Dynamic range goes from 1 nm to 10  $\mu$ m, and it measures the movement of nanomaterials due to Brownian motion. This technique can be carried out on clear suspensions with a known kinematic viscosity of the solvent for optical reasons.<sup>43</sup> As observed in Figure 9, the laser is first focused

on the sample, and then a thermal motion produces fluctuations that pass through a lens; and the detector will sense these changes. The rest of the light that passes linearly through the suspension is transmitted.<sup>20</sup> The time variation between these fluctuations depends on the scattering of the NP's surface.



Figure 9. Dynamic Light Scattering. Created with BioRender. Adapted from Ref. 44.

#### vii. Atomic Force Microscopy

Physicist Binnig developed this characterization technique in 1986 in order to determine the solid surface of the particles and provide a three-dimensional image. Atomic force microscopy (AFM) utilizes a sharp tip that deflects upward in the case of a net repulsive force or downward in a net attractive force. The contact of the tip can be modified to prevent the disruption of alteration of the surface. Besides NP surface, some other properties can be analyzed with this characterization technique, such as magnetic forces, chemical forces, or surface potential. AFM is usually used in a high vacuum to achieve very high resolutions, down to the atomic level to the microscale.<sup>45</sup> As observed in Figure 10, in AFM, the cantilever serves as a laser reflector energy between the diode laser and the sample surface; this produces a force measurement as the tiny probe pushes the surface, the particle resistance elevates the cantilever, and therefore the reflex is detected and processed on a computer for feedback control of the sample.<sup>46</sup>



Figure 10. Atomic Force Microscopy Created with BioRender. Adapted from Ref. <sup>39</sup>.

### viii. Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy

Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) uses the interaction between infrared radiation with materials to obtain information about molecular structure, absorbance variations, and chemical species for redox reactions.<sup>47</sup> This characterization technique uses infrared spectrum to excite vibrational or rotational states of the atoms or particles. Data collection can be carried out in less time because of the use of low-intensive infrared spectroscopy.<sup>39</sup> The mathematical method of the Fourier transform is utilized to develop a curve obtained from the signals; this transform, constituted by the summation of sines and cosines functions, will work the different optical frequencies into a easy to interpret signal. This mechanism requires an adequate quantification of film thickness, and composition can be acquired and compared with other nanostructures.<sup>48</sup>



Figure 11. Fourier Transform Infra-Red Spectrometer.

Created with BioRender. Adapted from Ref. 49.

As observed in Figure 11, the FTIR consists of a laser, a light source, and multiple optical components, like a beam splitter and adjustable mirrors. The detector can obtain information about surface chemistry properties to study or prevent other organic/inorganic compounds from aggregating to the surface. FTIR also facilitates the analysis of the outermost layer coated on the element and alters this phase.

#### **2.4 Applications**

Nanotechnology has risen many applications, mainly in industrial and medical fields. Furthermore, bimetallic nanoparticles like Ag-Pd NPs are being exploited by their enhanced properties presented in 2.2. Some of the most studied and promising applications of nanoparticles are the following:

#### i. Catalysis

NPs are used in the industry for catalytic processes, thanks to excellent surface area values that make them more inexhaustible in the remedial field.<sup>50</sup> Catalysis is the process in which the rate or velocity is directly influenced by a molecule or particle (catalyst); this substance is not naturally part of the reaction and could be added or removed to improve the quality and ease of the process. Multiple agents can serve as catalysts, like biomolecules or chemical reagents; however, since 1950, the term nanocatalyst was considered from nanoscience studies. On the nanoscale, NPs present a higher surface to volume ratio to enhance the catalyst to be more accessible to reactants and other substances.<sup>51</sup>

Recent studies have presented excellent catalytical properties of NPs, especially bimetallic. Bimetallic NPs have been used as catalytic agents since they present a more active surface to provide efficient contact between the reactant and the catalyst; this property increases its robustness and stability.<sup>52</sup> A nanocatalyst can also improve environmental problems like sustainable processes with lower energy consumption and, therefore, less environmental impact to aim for a greener industrial field.

#### *ii. Material Science*

This Physics field comes from: first, the scientific view about function and classification of structures; second, from materials and the four primary structural materials with electric and magnetic properties; and the engineering view, regarding the processing, degradation, and the correct selection of the materials.<sup>31</sup> Governments keep implanting public norms to reduce the increasing contamination, even though this could represent economic and efficiency losses to industries. Accordingly, the creation of enhanced materials and processes is urgently required.

NPs open to novel electronic, chemical, thermal, and mechanical properties into regular manufactured materials. For example, NPs' utilization to develop nanostructured materials to obtain resistant surfaces to scratches or make them sterile and waterproof.<sup>7</sup> Therefore, a novel engineered nanomaterial (NM) can obtain enhanced properties that could help it endure extreme conditions, such as electronic devices and aerospace sciences, or replace traditional materials harmful to nature, human health, and the economy.

#### *iii.* Environmental Engineering

This bioengineering is a field which scope is to process analytical designs for the water supply, waste disposal, and control all risks of pollution. Moreover, environmental engineering materials must be planned to stand the challenging conditions when operated, controlled, and enforced.<sup>53</sup> Therefore, engineered materials like nanoparticles are a potential application in this field. For instance, bimetallic NPs are also being used for hydrogen storage and as environmental catalysts. New technologies are developed to improve the efficiency and cost of standard environmental devices, such as solar panels and photovoltaic cells. This field is helping save energy on food, transport, and illumination industries worldwide.<sup>7</sup> One of the most relevant NPs' applications is to help with decontamination processes, for example, waste water or on polluted rivers. NPs have the ability to interact with contaminants as they absorb them into their surface; therefore, the controlled synthesis of these NPs is fundamental to lean for a specific size, composition, and porosity to adjust a specific contaminant.<sup>25</sup>

#### iv. Mechanical Sciences

Mechanical sciences are branches that study the generation, transmission, and utilization of heat and mechanical power for industrial and medical purposes; this field designs and produces

tools, machinery, and products to conduct this energy.<sup>54</sup> Among multiple technologies being studied for mechanical sciences, nanotechnology has attached much attention because of its remarkable features, like high sensitivity and heat response.<sup>55</sup>

For mechanical purposes, the nanoparticles are designed to present specific properties such as stress and strain resistance. NPs offer sliding and delamination properties that can affect materials that suffer stress and friction; hence, these could help with lubrication<sup>13</sup>. In the medical field, Al, Ti, and carbon-based NPs coatings are applied to enhance mechanical properties and avoid microfilm formation. Therefore, NP coatings may serve in multiple applications, as it improves toughness and resistance; it may also develop a smoother surface and resistance to corrosion, which are fundamental features for the engineering of mechanical applications. <sup>56</sup>

#### 2.5 Silver Nanoparticles

Silver's properties were found as an effective antimicrobial agent for almost all unicellular organisms by Vonnaegele in 1890.<sup>6</sup> Since then, the search for the applicability of silver has been exploited in several fields, including medical, industrial, material coatings, cosmetics, orthopedics, food industry, diagnostics, and anticancer treatments. Biomedical applications of Ag NPs are emphasized, as these specific nanostructures presented marvelous results as listed following: Antibacterial activity against *S. aureus*,<sup>57,58</sup> antifungal activity against various types of *candida*,<sup>59</sup> enhanced antiviral activity against human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and hepatitis B virus (HBV),<sup>60</sup> anti-inflammatory processes into diminishing inflammation chain reactions on would increase healing processes,<sup>61</sup> anti-angiogenic activity, tested on bovine endothelial cells, inhibiting vascular growth factor (GF),<sup>62</sup> anticancer activity producing increased alterations of metabolism of cancer cells, and increasing production of reactive oxygen species, leading to mitochondrial damage and cancer reduction.<sup>63</sup>

AgNPs can be obtained via three main methods: physical, chemical, and biological methods. The chemical methods are the most used thanks to easing efficiency to perform a controlled synthesis. However, the chemical method can use or result in reactive compounds that are very hazardous for nature and human health. <sup>64</sup> Thus, recent studies propose new synthesis techniques based on the utilization of organic compounds to aim for a greener nanofabrication method.

#### 2.6 Palladium Nanoparticles

Palladium is a precious metal with extraordinary catalytic, mechanical, and electroanalytical properties. Diverse studies have reported improved catalytic systems when supported on Pd NPs; this property can be explained thanks to Palladium's increased affinity to aliphatic compounds.<sup>65</sup> Despite the remarkable properties of Pd NPs, it has not been deeply studied until recent years, especially in the biomedical field, for example, on anticancer treatments such as photothermal therapy, dental applications, needles, and melanoma brachytherapy.<sup>66</sup> Besides, Pd NPs have proven enhanced antibacterial and cytotoxic-pharmacological activity against the growth of Gram-positive microbes such as *S. aureus*.<sup>50</sup> However, PdNPs present a safe toxicologic profile against other Pd species. While Pd is an expensive material to work with, new approaches focus on reducing Pd's amount by using a second metal. Taking the benefit of metallic catalytic and optical features, the creation of a bimetallic NP is required to improve engineered nanostructures.

## **CHAPTER III**

### 3. BIMETALLIC NANOPARTICLES

The use of multi-metallic NPs came from the necessity to solve various monometallic applications' limitations, such as reducing the amount of an expensive metal such Pd and enhancing specific processes' catalytic activity. Hence, many studies proved that bimetallic nanoparticles presented distinct properties compared to a nanoparticle of the metal alone; these features can get enhanced, modified, or impaired. Therefore, metallic nanostructures' remarkable properties would provide enhanced systems and capability of multiple effects when used as bimetallic NPs. The modification in the structural and electronic properties may directly affect their catalytic properties improving selectivity and durability.<sup>67</sup>

The morphology of bimetallic NPs can be varied; for example, an alloy NP presents a structure that can be a homogeneous particle of the two metals. A core-shell and super core-shell morphology present a different phase for each metal and can be built multiple times. A particle-in-particle NPs are a metal's particle inside the second metal. A particle-on-particle, particles of metal are attached to the second metal's surface. An aggregate nanoparticle, in which a particle is formed out of the aggregation of metallic domains or sub-particles. Moreover, individual nanoparticles present separated particles of each metal. To summarize, possible morphologies of bimetallic nanoparticles are represented in Figure 12.



Figure 12. Morphologies of bimetallic nanoparticles. Created with BioRender. Adapted from Ref. <sup>68</sup>.

In the synthesis, when both metals are present simultaneously, their simultaneous nucleation leads to an alloy structure, in which both metals are mixed in the product. SPR can analyze the internal distribution of bimetallic NPs; as for alloyed NPs, the maximum absorption band shifts linearly with the composition, and for core-shell nanoparticles, only the shell can be analyzed.<sup>69</sup> As observed in Figure 12, the alloy NPs present a new phase visibly different from either of the two metal phases out of all morphologies. Therefore, the properties of bimetallic NPs are distinctive from the monometallic NPs, depending on the size, atomic order, and continuity.<sup>68</sup>

#### 3.1 Synthesis of Bimetallic Nanoparticles

The NPs synthesis aims to build well-defined structures at a nano level. This part of nanotechnology studies the design and development of NPs that meet relevant criteria such as cost-effectiveness, controlled size, shape and composition, viability for large-scale production, facile or single stepped processes, and benign to nature and human health. Nanofabrication methods for NMs can be divided into two main approaches: Top-down and bottom-up. As observed in Figure 13, the top-down method, minimization of the raw material (bulk), is the pathway to obtain the nanoparticle, in contrast to the bottom-up method in which the self-organization of the atoms is required to produce the nanoparticles. The top-down approach is a faster method; therefore, control over the shape and size of the BMNPs is more challenging. On the other hand, in the bottom-up approach, the size and shape can be controlled by the management of synthesis parameters; hence it is a slower method.<sup>70</sup>



Figure 13. Nanofabrication Methods. Created with BioRender.

#### 3.1.1 Top-down Approach

This nanofabrication method consists of the division of bulk materials into more petite proportions. This fabrication type can be physical methods like milling, chemical methods, attrition methods, and a material's volatilization for its condensation into a solid.<sup>71</sup> Some of the most appropriate top-down methods are:

#### *i.* Thermal decomposition method

Thermal evaporation refers to the vaporization of a specific material by increasing a solution's temperature; hence, the material's vapor pressure gets significant, and atoms are loosened from the surface thanks to the vacuum applied<sup>72</sup> or deposited onto a cold surface. This method is driven by the decomposition temperature, defined as the specific temperature at which the element is chemically decomposed. This endothermic process produces a chemical decomposition by the introduction of heat<sup>73</sup>. Thermal evaporation is usually used to fabricate thin films of materials; however, multiple types of NPs such as bimetallic are fabricated. This method is one of the most used to obtain stable monodisperse suspensions with self-assembly ability. Due to size reduction, the high surface area to volume ratio can lead to enhanced catalytic activity<sup>74</sup>; besides, the metal oxidation can be reduced, and contamination can be avoided.

Hao et al. presented the synthesis of bimetallic NPs via thermal evaporation, obtaining an average size NP of ~7 nm and a spherical shape.<sup>75</sup> This synthesis technique is known for the resulting deposition on a surface for nucleation and growth; hence, the applications can provide a valuable deposition of thin coatings for multiple purposes like antibacterial and antifouling surfaces. Although the thermal evaporation technique does not require the use of hazardous chemicals, at commercial/industrial levels, the electric furnace needed to generate enough temperature rise is significant, implying an increase in energy and costs.<sup>76</sup>

#### ii. Laser ablation

This method is a facile technique for the synthesis in a different solvent. The laser ablation method can prepare bimetallic nanoparticles without using any chemical agent; thanks to the high potency laser, it produces vapors carried out by inert gas and deposited into a substrate.
The irradiation on metal submerged in the solution condenses a plasma to produce the nanoparticles<sup>73</sup>. Beyth et al. presented the synthesis of bimetallic nanoparticles with laser irradiation; silver-based BMNPs presented enhanced antibacterial applications. The synthesis method chosen was given thanks to the photosensitivity the metal presents<sup>77</sup>.

Literature has presented the laser ablation method as a process for successful control of bimetallic nanoparticle synthesis; hence, the formation of Ag-based bimetallic NPs presented a spherical shape and presented average sizes of 13 to 30 nm when utilized with acetone as solvent.<sup>78</sup> In this process, the stabilization and agglomeration can be controlled with the temperature by maintaining the solution at 3 °C as presented by Censabella et al. on the fabrication of Pd-based bimetallic NPs. Loza et al. propose laser ablation as the most controllable top-down method,<sup>69</sup> in which it is suitable to obtain well-dispersed bimetallic nanoparticles from a solid target (bimetallic alloy).

# iii. Lithography

Lithography is based on utilizing a pre-designed patterning substrate to create similar or equal structures; the principle is based on the interaction of beams of photons or particles with a mask. Nanolithography starts where microlithography stops; this synthesis method can be presented as two types of nanofabrication methods: primary, based on radiation, photons or charges particles can drive, and secondary, non-radiation based which can be nanoimprint, dip-pen-polymer pen or directed by the self-assembly. The nanofabricated material should be susceptible to radiation and must be able to keep stable during the lithographic process, to optimize these methods.<sup>79</sup> Hence, the literature presents lithography as a correct nanoparticle synthesis method. For example, Cha et al. presented the lithographic patterning of Fe-Pt NPs with an average size of ~11.5 nm and a crystalline domain with a core-shell shape.<sup>80</sup>

The patterns are designed to present a specific spacing to gain control over the NPs' properties; this synthesis method can modify or implement additional parameters such as unidirectional shear or strain on the mold or substrate.<sup>81</sup> The green synthesis can be aimed in this method depending on the technique required; for example, hazardous chemicals can be replaced for organic solvents in nano-imprint lithography. Pattern replication techniques like nanolithography can generate copies for rapid, efficient production of copies with low cost and

high yield.<sup>82</sup> However, some lithographic techniques may require slower processing time to achieve a high-resolution pattern and product. Hence, scale-up processes can get difficult.

## iv. Milling

This physical method is performed by the utilization of heavy balls for the milling; these metallic balls will reduce the size of the particles and attach the NPs for the correct distribution. The required material is loaded together with many steel or tungsten carbide balls in a container during the process. For the mechanical drops of the NPs, a mechanical mill has been stated; finally, it will be observed an alteration of the physicochemical properties and structure of the nanoparticle<sup>83</sup>. During this synthesis, kinetic energy will be transferred to the material, which is under reduction. This mechanical method can produce nanoparticles and is preferred due to its inexpensive operation from bulk. Many nanoparticles can be produced with this method, such as Ti and Ag Oxide powders can be transformed into 14 to 22 nm nanoparticles in 22 hours <sup>73</sup>. Ban and team members presented the synthesis of bimetallic nanoparticles for hyperthermia therapy. This study obtained a nanocrystalline CuNi alloy with an average crystallite size of around 10 nm platelet-like, at Curie temperature of 45 °C, and used NaCl to stabilize the nanoparticles and avoid agreggation<sup>84</sup>.

The homogeneity of the NPs by milling must constantly improve the parameters to enhance scale-up processes and ensure quality. The literature presents for this method that the coating of these BMNPs with surfactant can prevent agglomeration and are dispersed in a polar medium which can be water. The few or scarce utilization of reducing and stabilizing chemicals converts the process into an unexpensive reaction compared to other top-down methods. Hence, the method is extensively used for industrial processes and nanoparticle formation, and its application can eliminate or dramatically reduce the usage of hazardous agents. However, one of the main limitations is the high energy required for the mechanism, converting the ball milling method in a prolonged-time reaction to synthesize BMNPs.

# 3.1.2 Bottom-Up approach

Unlike top-down methods, bottom-up ones do not require advanced or complex instrumentations, making these less expensive than top-down approaches. This synthesis

technique is characterized by its fundamental self-assembly processes, which significantly alter particle structures and sizes<sup>85</sup>. The nanoparticles' growth can be controlled through multiple parameters, such as concentration, solvent, stabilizing agents, and temperature. The short time nucleation reinforces monodispersed particles' synthesis; this occurs thanks to the atoms' catch on an existing nuclei<sup>86</sup>. The large particles will be reduced in size, and the smaller particles will grow. Therefore, any new particle will be created, and the size distribution will be controlled.

### i. Emulsion and Precipitation

This nanofabrication method is designed with three main factors: a dispersed phase, a minor droplet, then a continuous phase, an immiscible solvent, and finally, a surfactant to cover the minor droplet. The system modification of these three parameters will depend on the emulsion type, like water-oil or water-Triton x-100.<sup>70</sup> The synthesized metallic NPs will be deposited inside the droplets; these will control size and composition during growth. The process is driven by the aqueous droplets colliding during the reaction and consequently breaking apart, resulting in the modification of the physicochemical properties of the particles from the solution. As the concentration reaches a soluble state, the nucleation will go by, and finally, the growth of each particle will stop once the concentration decreases.<sup>87</sup> The synthesis of bimetallic nanoparticles by emulsion and precipitation has been presented in the literature by Zhang and Chan. They prepared a homogeneous alloy of Pt-Ru with an average size of 4.5 nm;<sup>88</sup> furthermore, they tested the dependency of the nanoparticles' size regarding the concentration of the precursor. The results presented the NPs to be limited by the collisions during the reaction and mixing with thousands of hydrazine droplets, and at higher concentrations, the NP size gets increased.

The synthesis is commonly performed with organic solvents that will overcome the reduction and start nucleation. The use of stabilizers is not usually required, thanks to the promoter that stabilizes the nanoparticles' growth to prevent or regulate precipitation. Among all the nanofabrication methods, emulsion and precipitation method is a versatile technique. With the right design of this system, we can obtain a controlled synthesis of parameters like size, geometry, morphology, homogeneity, and surface area of the NPs<sup>89</sup>. However, the nucleation is limited by the precursor's collision, decreasing the yield of the synthesis method on scale-up processes.

#### *ii.* Chemical Vapor Deposition

Chemical Vapor Deposition (CVD) is the chemical process in which a gas transports a precursor to be decomposed and form a solid; this precursor interacts with other gases and products<sup>90</sup>. This method is based on the chemical reaction of combining gas phase in contact with a heated surface. Here, compounds get degraded inside the reactor or near the solid surface, resulting in a thin layer-shaped material or a NPs<sup>71</sup>. The CVD method can synthesize NP that can tolerate high temperatures such as metal oxide NPs for coatings and bimetallic nanoparticles for electrical conductivity enhancement.

Choi et al. presented bimetallic nanoparticles synthesized by CVD; when dissolved in hexane, it served as the stabilizing agent and helped with the shape and size control of the NPs<sup>91</sup>. On the other hand, this process requires expensive instrumentation and may produce toxic by-products as a consequence. Khiriya et al. developed bimetallic NPs by CVD; these presented a size range of 5-11 nm and spherical<sup>92</sup>. In the direct chemical vapor depositions, a controlled synthesis can be carried out by modifying some parameters, for example, the direction of the gas flow and pressure; these can influence the crystallinity and morphology<sup>90</sup>. Studies have reported pre-patterned sources to control the nucleation of materials during the chemical deposition in the vapor phase. However, the lack of control in the domain could be a limiting factor for more significant applications such as graphene-based devices with more reliable performances<sup>93</sup>.

## iii. Pyrolysis

The NPs' formation through pyrolysis is driven as an anaerobic process. First, the decomposition of the precursor on the metallic surface, then ionic diffusion through the metal particle and its precipitation, and finally, the diffusion through the bulk<sup>94</sup>. Ijaz et al. suggested a mechanism to explain the synthesis via pyrolysis. By the fusion of the molecule or atom due to a specific mechanism like spinning, then the precipitation of the material will occur, leading to nucleation; finally, the collected particles will be dried. Commonly, laser or plasma can be implemented to increase the temperature rise needed for the synthesis; hence the temperature levels will produce evaporation of the particles<sup>73</sup>.

The synthesis of bimetallic NPs by pyrolysis has also been studied; Zhao et al. developed a Pdbased BMNP that was presented as a uniformly dispersed nanoparticle with an average crystalline size of ~7 nm for catalytical purposes<sup>95</sup>. They utilized trisodium citrate as a reducing agent and sodium borohydride as the stabilizer, chemicals that are highly hazardous for human health and the environment. On the other hand, recent studies have proven the successful synthesis of metallic NPs by replacing deionized water as solvent. Due to high levels of efficiency, inexpensiveness, simplicity, and high yield, Pyrolysis is the most used synthesis method in the industry. However, this process is still conditioned by the heat transfer limitation and needs further studies.

#### iv. Chemical Reduction

This synthesis method can be divided into two phases: reduction and growth. The first, a metal precursor precipitate in a redox reaction and forms a core; then, a second precursor is deposited as a shell<sup>70</sup>. The chemical reduction method uses chemical reducing agents such as hydroquinone, sodium borohydride (as a strong reductant), alkaline solutions, ascorbic acid, and dimethylamine borane reduction of metal ions.<sup>64</sup> Potent reducing agents yield smaller NPs compared to weak reducing agents; however, smaller NPs tend to be more unstable than others of the same metal but bigger size. Ammonia can be used to solve low stability. Huang et al. developed a synthesis of nanocrystalline Ag-Pd alloy by chemical reduction; the bimetallic nanoparticles were obtained from a range of 2.46 to 6.6 nm, in which a 50-50 rate obtained a crystallite size of 4.16 nm cluster. Huang et al. also state that this chemical procedure is suitable for scale-up procedures, but more investigation is required<sup>96</sup>. To reduce the use of hazardous chemicals, for example, silver ammoniacal solution, we could use biological agents like saccharides and polyols, and the temperature of the process can be increased to prevent the yield from diminishing.

# a. Galvanic replacement

Galvanic Replacement can be considered a modification of a Chemical Reduction method. This synthesis method replaces the atoms of the first metal that react with ions of a second metal with a higher electrochemical potential; these atoms get oxidized, and the second's metal ions get reduced into the surface of the metal template<sup>97</sup>. This method provides a facile way to convert more noble metals into well-structured nanoparticles; The reducing agent on galvanic replacements presents enhanced properties such as remarkable tunability and catalytical activity<sup>98</sup>. Wu et al. presented a continuous synthesis of hollow Ag-Pd NPs with an average

size of ~15 nm through galvanic replacement, in which the method can be significantly enhanced in the presence of a mild reducing agent such as hydroquinone. However, catalytical properties of the alloy get improved, and by-products could get controlled<sup>93</sup>. The main limitation of this methodology is the search for a capping agent that stops the dealloying or agglomeration process of the NPs, as the utilization of these agents can significantly reduce the reaction yield<sup>99</sup>.

### v. Solvothermal

The metallic precursor is dissolved in a hermetic reactor, in which temperature will be risen above the metal's boiling point, consequently increasing temperature. Liquid agents like ammonia, hydrazine, and organic solvents are commonly used<sup>71</sup>. The solvent of the reaction can also be water; hence the technique is named hydrothermal synthesis; as the reaction takes place over 100 °C and 1 atm, it is viable to use some materials that can be hard to dissolve. Most solvothermal techniques are employed below the critical temperature; hence batch processes can make the production on scale-up levels be cost-effective and less environmental impact; however, unexpensive solvents can cause problems due to limitations caused by low boiling point <sup>100</sup>, for example, ethylenediamine.

The synthesis of NPs can be driven thanks to the use of solvents above their boiling point and atmospheric pressure. Bimetallic NPs are seldom studied in literature; however, Wang and Gengyu presented the synthesis of bimetallic Pd/Ag nanoparticles by solvothermal method. Here they obtained spherical alloys of an NP with an average size of 10 nm and core-shell structures with an average size of ~40 nm, suggesting optimal conditions of 180 °C.<sup>101</sup> This method is presented as an energy-efficient, environmentally benign, and versatile process for multiple materials.

### vi. Hydrothermal method

The hydrothermal method is processed at high temperatures and pressure values; this method takes place in a sealed reaction vessel, producing nucleation and growth of the NPs. Polyethylene glycol can be used as the surfactant; this polymer is highly recommended as it is non-toxic, non-flammable, and easy to handle. In the hydrothermal process, the materials are carefully weighed and dissolved in water, then dried and repeated multiple times.<sup>102</sup> Ultrasonic and centrifugation can also be used to enhance the reaction. The nucleation of nanoparticles is

enhanced by the rate and supersaturation, with the aim to lower the solubility of a material to induce particle formation. This nanofabrication technique is based on supercritical water preparation, which will give the reaction-specific parameters for the correct synthesis of nanoparticles; these parameters will also determine particle size and stabilization.<sup>103</sup>

A bimetallic alloy prepared by the hydrothermal method was reported, in which an average spherical NP of 22 nm was successfully obtained and presenting optimal conditions at 95 °C.<sup>104</sup> Two metals are added to citric acid solutions with continuous magnetic stirring. Then ammonia is used to maintain the pH. The reactant's concentration, the reaction temperatures, and times can be adjusted to reduce the size and control the shape of the synthesized NPs. With rapid heating, uniform size, and faster reaction time, the yield and homogeneity of NPs can be scaled up<sup>102</sup>. However, since supercritical water can be obtained under high temperature and high-pressure conditions, there are still limitations for in-situ measurements to elucidate NP formation.

#### vii. Sonochemical

This technique is produced by sound waves that propagate through the media in low- and highpressure cycles, generally from 20 kHz to 40 MHz. Ultrasonic cavitation will form, and bubbles will create, grow, and collapse, consequently, break chemical bonds. This process will produce changes in the particle's physical and chemical properties, such as high temperature, pressure, and cooling rates, which are significant parameters to keep under extreme conditions. NPs can be formed due to the fast kinetics that does not allow the growth of the nuclei or due to the nonvolatile precursor that surrounds the bubble. The temperature in the outer ring is lower than inside the collapsing bubble but higher than the bulk's temperature. The morphology depends on the ultrasound process; when simultaneous sonication is chosen, an alloy particle could be produced, or when successive sonication is applied, a core-shell structure could be obtained. The literature presents that the dilution of the reaction's precursor will directly affect the nanoparticle size by decreasing it.<sup>94</sup> The particles' size is dose-dependent; as the sonication intensity increases, smaller particles will be obtained.

Bimetallic Au-Pd NPs presented a dispersive distribution and average size of 8 nm of a gold core and palladium shell. This technique is presented as an inexpensive, facile, quick method to obtain NPs; it does not need the excessive use of reducing agents and hence will not exhibit

hazardous chemicals as secondary products. This procedure can be taken at room temperature and assemble multiple shapes, like nanobelts, nanotubes, core-shell, nanorings, and other bimetallic morphologies<sup>105</sup>. The design of different parameters like frequencies, power, pulse, stabilizers, the temperature can directly enhance the synthesis yield and the NPs produced. However, ultrasound synthesis is a highly energetic process, and scale-up processes can get complicated.

#### viii. Microwave

Microwaves are a form of electromagnetic radiation; they have operation frequencies from 900 to 2450 MHz range and vibrate close to radiofrequencies<sup>106</sup>, as observed in Fig 14. Microwave irradiation causes energy transference by directed molecular interactions; therefore, heating is a conversion of electromagnetic energy into thermal. This energy causes volumetric heating producing a faster temperature rise compared to other methods<sup>107</sup>. Microwave synthesis has two main mechanisms: First, the dipolar mechanism occurs under a very high-frequency electric field, and a polar molecule attempts to follow the field in the exact alignment. Second, the high temperature of the molecules drives the reaction forward. Then, the irradiated sample, in which a component conducts electrical charges (ions and electrons), moves through the material within the sample<sup>108</sup>, increasing its temperature.



Figure 14. Electromagnetic Spectrum Created with BioRender. Retrieved from <sup>109</sup>.

This NPs Synthesis method can direct action the materials, as these enhance heating and allow quick cooling. In the microwave method, ethylene glycol can be replaced with water, which is the most suitable solvent, as ions move through it and are influenced by electric and magnetic fields<sup>110</sup>. Any hazardous chemicals are needed for this high-temperature procedure. Literature conducted a synthesis of metallic NPs at different pH values and obtained various shapes, such as cubic or spherical particles with an average size of ~ 25-40 nm. The preparation of BMNPs

has also been reported by microwave technique, for example, for Ag-based nanostructures. Nadagouda et al. produced spherical NPs and with average sizes of ~ 10 to 11 nm diameter<sup>108</sup>. Nanoparticle formation can be given just after 300 s of total microwave heating. This synthesis can increase the energy yield, present short-time reaction, produce small-size NPs, and minimize the production of side products and impurities that could risk nature or human health. Despite being an excellent alternative green method, on the scale-up synthesis, the microwave method presents some limitations like the variable physicochemical properties of the NPs, which may vary from one batch to another, and that frequent purification may be needed.

#### ix. Sol-Gel

The Sol-Gel method is a process in which solid materials are obtained from small molecules, in which a solution (Sol) gradually grows on the solid macromolecule (Gel); hence, a biphasic system is produced. The synthesis of NPs is usually carried out with the support of physical methods like stirring and shaking. After the synthesis, a separation process will be required for the obtention is performed to obtain the NPs. For bimetallic NP synthesis, it is carried out hydrolysis and reaction condensation form a stable sol system. Citric acid and ethylene glycol are some of the agents needed for this method. The pH of the synthesis can be adjusted by adding ammonia to the sol, and this will convert the sol from homogenous transparent to viscous brown.<sup>111</sup> Supriya et al. presented the synthesis of noble bimetallic nanoparticles by sol-gel technique; TEM images indicated an average particle size of particle ~3.5 nm and the particles' stability at the nearly spherical structure.<sup>112</sup> The BMNPs synthesized through the Sol-Gel method presented great purity, controlled porosity, and easy preparation of varied sizes.

A Sol-Gel synthesis for the obtention of metallic NPs with good dispersity was obtained by Hu et al.; they utilized ferric nitrate and citric acid with ammonia to adjust the pH of the reaction to control the parameters like size and avoid agglomeration of the synthesized NPs.<sup>113</sup> Due to simplicity, the sol-gel method is the most used synthesis method; however, the use of organic solvents could be hazardous for the environment and human safety,<sup>105</sup> especially on scale-up processes.

#### x. Electrochemical

This synthesis method utilizes the electrical energy of a source and produces a chain reaction. The closeness of two electrodes can produce this electrical field. This chemical reduction process of the NPs will be driven thanks to the conductivity of the metallic material, which can serve as an anode and a solvent with the metallic precursor as the cathode.<sup>70</sup> The electrochemical synthesis method has also been studied for multi-metallic NPs widely. Ren et al. designed Pt/Au BMNPs for biosensing applications; the synthesized particles presented a polycrystalline structure with a flower-like morphology.<sup>114</sup> Yang et al. presented a Pt-based BMNP with organic solvents as reducing agents and hexa-chloroplatinate as the stabilizer and obtained a plate NP with an average size of ~ 20 nm.<sup>115</sup>

This synthesis method allows the obtention of particles with high purity, and the process is regularly fast and straightforward. The electrochemical synthesis method is generally preferred in industrial applications thanks to the viability of the process to control the size and purity of the NPs by adjusting the current density, besides being a cost-effective and ecological alternative for the nanofabrication of bimetallic NPs. On the other hand, scale-up processes can be complicated with this synthesis technique, as literature presents that the reaction varies depending on the current density produced.<sup>116</sup> Moreover, depending on the materials required, it may utilize hazardous chemicals for the operator.

# 3.1.3 Green Synthesis

This novel field aims to use renewable, biodegradable, and optimized materials that do not persist in the environment<sup>117</sup>. Green Chemistry is a set of principles based on the design, development, creation, and enhancement of processes that use chemical products that could not harm the economy, nature, and human health. The principles are as follows: prevent waste, atom economy, less hazardous synthesis, design benign chemicals, benign solvents, energy efficiency, renewable feedstocks, reduce derivatives, catalyze, plan degradation, analysis of pollution prevention, and benign chemistry for accident prevention<sup>118</sup>. These principles of green chemistry aim for all scientific, industrial, and medical processes to be more environmentally conscient and, therefore, use less hazardous chemicals to prevent contamination and human health issues. The green synthesis of NPs aims for the

nanofabrication methods to innovate, modify, or replace the traditional methodologies that utilize potent chemicals or produce them as a product of the synthesis.

# *i.* Biological

Biological methods rely on biological reactants as synthesis agents; these can originate from plants such as roots, leaves, flowers, or from microorganisms such as algae, bacterial resources, fungus extracts, and from biochemical products or mammalian cells. The particles are deposited in the microbial culture supernatant; the parameters like size and morphology depend on the biological substrate<sup>15</sup>. Kalishwaralal et al. suggested that an enzymatic reduction is a mechanism to obtain the NPs, such as silver nitrate, by nitrate reductase with other compounds that carry electrons<sup>119</sup>.

There has been reported the synthesis of Pd NPs from *Pseudomonas* and *Escherichia coli*. Macaskie et al. suggested that even though further investigation is required to understand the mechanisms, NPs are synthesized by the bacterial hydrogenases of the cell envelope<sup>120</sup>; this helped ease access to the NPs. Another study presents the synthesis by *Mirabilis Jalapa* leaf, obtaining bimetallic nanoparticles with an average size of ~15.2 nm and presented as plates, sheets, and spherical structured, depending on the concentration of the precursors used.<sup>121</sup> The as-synthesized nanoparticles were also used against *Klebsiella pneumonia* and *S. aureus*. Despite biological methods have excellent stability, being unexpensive, and accomplishing green chemistry, it produces monodispersed nanoparticles. The concentration of macromolecules that directly act on the synthesis of NPs is low; hence, the nucleation takes a more extended period, and the synthesis rate is diminished<sup>122</sup>.

Method	BMNP	Reducing Agents	Stabilizing Agents	Size and Morphology	Ref.
Thermal decomposition	Ag-Cu	Hydrazine hydrate, SDS	Oleic acid	~7 nm, core- shell.	75
Laser ablation	Ag-Cu	Ethanol, acetone	None	~20 nm, spherical.	78
Nanolithography	Fe-Pt	Hydroquinone	Cetyltrimethylammonium chloride	~11.5 nm, core- shell.	80
Milling	Cu-Ni	Sodium Hydroxide	None	~12 nm, blades.	84

Table 1. Review of t	the top-down	nanofabrication	methods for bimetallic	Pd-based and Ag-b	pased alloy NPs
----------------------	--------------	-----------------	------------------------	-------------------	-----------------

Method	BMNP	Reducing Agents Stabilizing Agent		Size and Morphology	Ref
Emulsion and precipitation	Pt-Ru	H2, Sodium Borohydride, Surfactant, Triton X Hydrazine		~4.5 nm, cubic.	88
Chemical Vapor Deposition	Fe-Ru	Sodium hydroxide	Polyacrylic acid (PAA)	~10 nm, spherical.	92
Pyrolysis	Pd-Ni	Sodium Borohydride	Trisodium Citrate	~7.2 nm, cubic.	95
Chemical Reduction	Ag-Pd	Sodium borohydride, citrate,	Trimethyl ammonium bromide, triton x100	~ 6 nm, clusters.	70
Galvanic Replacement	Ag-Pd	Hydroquinone, formaldehyde	Organic Ligands	~15nm, hollow	123
Solvothermal	Ag-Pd	Ethylene glycol, ammonia, hydrazine.	Organic cations, Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP)	~10 nm, spherical.	101
Hydrothermal	Ni-Cu	Sodium Dodecyl sulfate, Hydrazine.	Triton X.	~22 nm, spherical.	25
Sonochemical	Au-Pd	Ethylene Glycol.	PVP, Polyethylene glycol (PEG)	~ 10 nm, triangular.	124
Microwave	Au-Ag	Polyol solvents, ethylene glycol.	PVP, Trisodium Citrate	~10 nm, spherical.	108
Sol-Gel	Au-Pd	Citric Acid, Ethylene glycol	Silicates	~3.5 nm, spherical	112
Electrochemical	Au-Pt	None	PVP, hexachloroplatinate	~20nm, rectangular	115
Biological	ZnO- Ag	Mirabilis Jalapa leaves.	Biomolecules	~15.2 nm, spherical	121

# Table 2. Review of the bottom-up nanofabrication methods.

#### **3.2 Controlled Synthesis**

The minimal modification of the nanoscale parameters leads to the alteration of characteristics like size and morphology. The control of the synthesis of NPs is significant for the design of biomedical applications like antibacterial agents to ensure the quality and efficacy of the assynthesized products. Furthermore, biomedical complexes require characteristics to fulfill their purposes effectively. For example, a bimetallic nanoparticle as a nanozyme needs a controlled pH to achieve hydroxyl radicals' catalytic production for enhanced antitumor effects.<sup>125</sup> Or a bimetallic NP as a biosensor for detecting antimetabolites, the size and morphology depend on the nucleation rate, and its minimal alteration can lead to poor selectivity.<sup>126</sup> Hence, the synthesis of bimetallic NPs is designed to have a controlled production; and some of the most influencing factors are as follows:

#### 3.2.1 Temperature

The reaction temperature is controlled in every synthesis method; the nucleation and NP growth design are developed depending on the resistance and susceptibility of the metal to the temperature. The temperature can be modified to minimize the activation energy required to start a reaction; therefore, this parameter is fundamental to achieve cost-effective synthesis. Ali et al. 2020, state that temperature optimization is essential because its increase can accelerate the deposition of metallic atoms, enhancing bimetallic NP' formation.<sup>127</sup> For example, the temperature utilized for the synthesis of Rh atoms on the surface of Pd NPs is less in comparison to Pt atoms on the same surface due to lower bonding energy.

## 3.2.2 Concentration

The concentration of the specific parameters described below, interferes in all the steps of the synthesis. Controlled nucleation, growth, and stabilization of the bimetallic NPs are given by the design of the concentration of:

# *i.* Precursors

Most of the parameters for the synthesis of NPs depend on the nature of the precursors; for example, the reaction temperature depends on the composition of the metal. Generally, for

bimetallic NP synthesis, the precursors' ratio gets modified to optimize the materials and their application. The concentration of the metal precursors influences the size and shape of the NPs. For example, the synthesis of bimetallic NPs of Pt-Au and Pt-Ru was driven with the variation of the salts: HAuCl<sub>4</sub> and RuCl<sub>3</sub>, respectively;<sup>128</sup> the as-synthesized NPs presented variated morphology, aggregation, and surface area.

# ii. Reducing agents

The reducing agent is the compound that donates an electron to the oxidation agent in a chemical reduction, in this case required for the synthesis; this agent can change accordingly to the reaction conditions. For example, with a low pH, some reducing agents can enhance or diminish the reduction rate; or, at high pH, these agents can play an essential role in a controlled synthesis.<sup>127</sup> Jing and Wang, 2010, presented the synthesis of bimetallic Ag-Pd NPs, in which the surface area and morphology were directly influenced by the mild reducing agents.<sup>98</sup> The slow reduction of the reaction is the key to aim control over the products' shape and morphology; hence, the concentration and reduction agents are modified to optimize the controlled synthesis. Furthermore, the selection of these agents is essential to avoid a negative impact on the designed system.

#### iii. Stabilizers

The stabilization of the NPs is fundamental to prevent undesired aggregation. The literature presents the stabilizers as agents added to the reaction to specifically attach to the assynthesized NP's surface to reduce its energy and obtain a stable shape<sup>127</sup>. However, the concentration of the stabilizer agents can modify the surface chemistry of a bimetallic NP due to chemisorption. PVP is the widest stabilizer for BMNPs, but literature has presented it to affect their morphology and shape. Yang et al. adjusted a slow titration with PVP and obtained triangular Ag-Pd NPs with high practical and suitable applications.<sup>129</sup>

# 3.2.3 рН

The pH of a solution interferes with the yield of the chemical agents essential for forming the desired NPs. For example, at a lower pH, the reducing agent losses capacity to induce reduction; on the other hand, it can reduce the agent's ability to become more assertive at high

pH.<sup>130</sup> the synthesis agents like stabilizers can modify a solution's pH. The reaction's pH should be controlled in every reaction during the synthesis of bimetallic nanoparticles, as it helps in the control of the size and shape of BMNPs. The literature conducted the synthesis of bimetallic nanoparticles at different pH values; with this, they obtained a wide variety of shapes, including circular cubic and spherical particles, all in the nanometer range.<sup>94</sup> With a higher pH, the reaction increases the nucleation rate in the initial stages, and smaller nanoparticles could be obtained.

### 3.2.4 Reaction Time

The synthesis of bimetallic NPs requires more time for its controlled formation, in contrast with their monometallic counterparts. The synthesis is taken in separate forms, nucleation of each particle or simultaneous nucleation; for each case, the reaction time must be optimized and controlled to aim for reliability and cost-effectiveness. Unlike the parameters listed above, the reaction time generally does not affect the final properties of the BMNPs; the reason for this statement is that when the growth and stabilization occur, the reaction time does not result in any change for the NPs<sup>131</sup>. However, the reaction time should be optimized to aim for an energy-effective design, especially for scale-up processes.

# **CHAPTER IV**

#### 4. PALLADIUM-SILVER NANOPARTICLES

The preparation of bimetallic NPs can be performed by two main procedures; successive reduction of two metals, which is mainly used to prepare core-shell structured nanoparticles. Alternatively, simultaneous reduction of two metals by which alloy nanoparticles can be obtained. Generally, bimetallic Pd/Ag nanoparticles can be prepared by chemical and physical methodologies, such as reduction, solvothermal, irradiation. Nonetheless, these synthesis techniques could present multiple limitations and use undesired subproducts that could be harmful to the environment and human safety. In contrast, co-reduction is a simple method for nanofabrication: the same performance as monometallic NPs, but with two or more metals.

The ease of characterization chooses the bimetallic combination of Ag and Pd, thanks to solid surface plasmon absorption of silver needed for UV-Vis mentioned in section 2.2.2, in contrast with Pd, which presents a broad absorption tail only, facilitating the characterization.<sup>68</sup> Some of the most common techniques used to characterize bimetallic nanoparticles are based on electron microscopies and some based on Brownian motion of particles, such as DLS, analytical ultracentrifugation, disc centrifugal sedimentation, and nanoparticle tracking analysis.<sup>69</sup>

Material coatings with noble metals (Ag, Au, Pd) were recently tested on animal models; in this study, scientists found that these presented lower inflammatory responses and induced just a thin fibrous capsule after a few weeks. Therefore, demonstrating outstanding biocompatibility and performance.<sup>132</sup> This investigation supported earlier conclusions about the low toxicity of noble metal coatings. Pd/Ag NPs exhibit the highest permeability for hydrogen and are continuously studied for industrial applications such as catalysis and electronics.<sup>133,96</sup> The applicability of these nanoparticles is broad; hence, the bimetallic Pd/Ag nanoparticle synthesis is aimed at a more controlled reaction. Alloying Pd with a second element has been studied to lower the CO adsorption strength and enhance the CO production rate. The use of Ag benefits from the ease of synthesizing atomically precise AgPd BMNPs as well as the higher efficiency and earth abundance of Ag.<sup>6</sup>

The bimetallic Ag/Pd NPs present enhanced properties compared with their monometallic counterparts. The system of Ag/Pd NPs has been utilized in many applications, especially as a potential catalyst for direct ethanol fuel cells. The literature states the enhanced electrocatalytic activity and stability towards ethanol oxidation reaction in alkaline solutions due to nanoporous structuring. This alloy is frequently presented to have the best performance with high activity, selectivity, and durability at low overpotentials, making it an enhanced catalyzer.<sup>134</sup> However, the aggregation of bimetallic Ag-Pd NPs still requires further studies to be controlled without decreasing the mass activity of the BMNPs.

# **4.1 Biomedical Applications**

Nanotechnology has been proven as an expanding science whose applications are at the service of the biomedical field. Thomas Webster has worked on the design, synthesis, safety, and evaluation of NMs for multiple biomedical applications since 1998; he has conducted multiple studies of the toxicology of NPs, included antibacterial and catalytical advances<sup>135</sup>, presenting compelling evidence that raises nanomedicine as a highly proficient alternative and improvement to existing treatments, diagnoses, and therapeutic devices. Novel technologies, such as the following, are studied continuously in the field of nanotechnology to aim for better results.

#### i. Biocatalysts

Biocatalysis is the field of chemistry that aims at the use of catalysts for biochemical purposes. Industrial processes commonly are made at high temperatures, creating the necessity of temperature-resistant catalytical agents. Hence, nanotechnology has been developed as an essential, inexpensive, stable, reproducible, and resistant support<sup>136</sup>. NPs' catalytical activity is a widely studied field aimed to enhance the selectivity, stability, and oxidation velocity in glucose, carbon monoxide, alcohols, and toluene. Pd NPs have gained special attention from catalytical activities because these present a high surface area to volume ratio<sup>137</sup>. Li et al. recently presented a study showing that Ag NPs' catalytic activity was significantly reduced at certain pH, but Ag-Pd NPS performed efficiently on every pH<sup>125</sup>. It is expected that the existing challenges will be addressed soon to advance in the development and commercialization of efficient catalysts for medical and industrial processes.

## *ii.* Drug delivery technology

Drug delivery technology is the biomedical field that seeks a controlled delivery system of a drug to enhance bioavailability and improve health. Nanotechnology on drug delivery is aimed to enhance targeted delivery of medicines and improve the permeability of cells to absorb the drug<sup>138</sup>. NPS can be designed to present controlled pharmacokinetics ADME processes: Adsorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Excretion. NPs can enter the human body through inhalation, oral intake, and direct injection; the first interaction rapidly occurs between the particle and a protein15; as nanoparticles cross the blood barrier, it can then produce a sustained delivery of medication could usually be hard to control.

Some aspects can be limiting for the delivery of the drug, like NPs, commonly being recognized by the lymphatic system. However, the particles' coatings have been presented as solutions, as these make the nanoparticle less hydrophobic to prevent it from binding with blood components<sup>139</sup>. Many factors are taken into account to release the loading (drug), such as pH, temperature, and solubility<sup>140</sup>. In pharmaceutical sciences, bimetallic NPs are also being used to reduce toxic activity and side effects of drugs<sup>141</sup>. Therefore, the NPs' structure can be designed to release under specific conditions; this bioavailability will be increased, and the treatment will be more efficient.

## iii. Cancer Treatments

Cancer treatments can significantly deteriorate the patients' health; for this reason, new technologies aim to target a single hallmark or pathway<sup>142</sup>. Nanoparticles for cancer are used in a varied range of applications, from diagnostics to enhanced therapeutics. NPs are designed to work as biomarkers to enlighten specific parts of an organism that recurrent methods cannot. Pd and Ag NPs have taken beneficial catalytic and optical features that are the base for multiple therapeutic applications. Upon improved cancer treatments, the self-lighting photodynamic therapy (PDT) has presented many advantages over traditional PDT, as the need for only one single energy source, the application of lower radiation doses, and a cost-effective solution<sup>143</sup>. While NPS has a value of persistent luminescence, emissions can be prolonged when photosynthesizers are active, significantly improving the treatment's effectiveness.

#### iv. Biosensors

A biosensor is a biological sensing material with a transducer; this associates a reaction and transduces it to a signal interpretation. However, bioactive molecules can get prematurely deactivated thanks to unstable materials<sup>144</sup>. Nanotechnology uses electrochemical deposition of biomolecules; As Ag-Pd NPs present a relatively low cost, high stability of the structure, and sensitivity, these metals are commonly used for molecules biosensing<sup>126</sup>. Cao et al. presented a bimetallic biosensor for the effective detection of cholesterol using a vitreous electrode; this new sensor presented higher stability and sensitivity toward the molecule tested in comparison to pure noble metals' biosensor<sup>145</sup>. These enhanced properties could be controlled by the alloy's electro-catalytic properties, influencing charge transfer for the efficient detection of the analyte.

# **CHAPTER V**

## 5. ANTIBACTERIAL APPLICATION

Nanotechnology presents innovative, promising applications in the biomedical field for antibacterial applications due to their capability to adhere and accumulate in the cellular membrane, inducing cellular death (disruption). Nowadays, leading solutions to antibacterial resistance and rapid growth/spread of bacteria are the NPs' bactericidal properties and their multiple mechanisms to combat antibiotic resistance and the NPS as bio carriers.

Recent experiments have found out that bimetallic nanoparticles' bioconjugation has improved bactericidal activity against many bacterial strains, especially *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus*.<sup>127</sup> Another study suggested that the biocompatible composites of chitosan added with Ag-Pd nanoparticle presented a better antibacterial activity against Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria, in contrast with a single metal nanoparticle.

## 5.1 Staphylococcus Aureus

*S. aureus* is a member of the *Micrococcaceae* family. It is a Gram-positive coccus that consists of a circular chromosome of around 2800 bp; this bacterium presents phages, plasmids, and transposons. *S. aureus* can be found single or clustered in pairs, chains, and grape-like shapes. Staphylococcus can be found commonly on the nostrils and skin of healthy children and adults. Its spread is given by direct contact with a contaminated surface or airborne transmission; the portion of this bacterium is higher in nostrils of people who work at hospitals and patients. <sup>147</sup> This facultative anaerobe bacteria can produce catalases, which can trigger the rupture of water and oxygen molecules. The cell wall of *S. aureus* is mainly composed of peptidoglycan, which is a polysaccharide of N-acetylglucosamine and N-acetylmuramic acid (Figure 15). This peptidoglycan may be the macromolecule resulting in a toxic activity by simulating the macrophages releasing cytokines, activating the complement, and forming platelet aggregation.<sup>146</sup> More than eleven serotypes are known, and by which are the main causing agents for infections like endocarditis, meningitis, osteomyelitis, and mastitis, among others listed in Table 3.



## 5.1.1 Staphylococcus Aureus effects on Human Health

Clinical reports on *S. aureus* have been presented since 1880; however, this remains a warning issue for human health, thanks to their outstanding ability to gain resistance.<sup>148</sup> *S. aureus* is the promotor to multiple types of infections, going on a wide range of illnesses from minor affections like furuncles or folliculitis to potentially lethal diseases such as pneumonia/ meningitis.<sup>149</sup> As observed in Table 3, each illness's mortality rate is presented as a direct death-risking factor that affects mainly the elderly population, and if it is correctly diagnosed, it can be treated with antibiotics. It is essential to mention that the incidence of these illnesses caused by *S. aureus* can also lead to other concerning diseases such as Cancer.<sup>150</sup> Moreover, a study developed in 2018 in the city of Quito presented that the prevalence rate of *S. aureus* methicillin-resistant is ~ 30% in Ecuador and ~ 20 % worldwide.<sup>151</sup>

Туре	Illness	<b>Brief Description</b>	Mortality Rate (%)	Ref
Cutaneous	Folliculitis	Follicle gets infected, causing redness and pain on the base of each hair.	0,12	152
	Toxic Shock Syndrome	Severe rash. It May lead to hypotension, affects the kidneys, Gastrointestinal, Nervous System.	3,93	153
	Impetigo Series of Pustules and yellow crusty sores that are itchy and hurtful.		1,60	154
	Cellulitis dermatitis	Infection of the skin and the underneath tissue. Cause redness and extended pain.	1,10	155
	Necrotizing fasciitis On newborns may be complicated infections. Cause painful detachment of large amounts of skin.		>1	156
	Mastitis	Mammary glands infections. The nipple can include cellulitis and abscesses. It can be infectious for the baby.	3,08	150
Respiratory	Pneumonia	Air sacks infection. Cause high fever and breathing difficulty. May provoke accumulation of pus.	32,61	157
Gastrointestinal System	Intoxication	Cause severe nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea.	2,32	158
	Urinary Fever, burning, pain. May lead to leukocyturia.		8,00	159
Circulatory System	Bacteriemia	Blood Stream infection. High fever may cause shock syndrome.	12,46	160
	Endocarditis	Endocardium inflammation may cause cardiac insufficiency and death.	25,31	161
	Meningitis	Meninges inflammation may cause seizures and death.	32,43	162
Osseous	Osteomyelitis	Bone inflammation and destruction. Cause chills, fever, and pain.		163
	Arthritis	Joint inflammation. May produce fever and pain.	17,60	164

Table 3. Illnesses and their mortality rate caused by S. aureus.

\*The mortality rate is presented as the percentage number of cause-specific deaths by each illness. The rate was calculated from the cause-related mortal cases from different studies which measured population in general and specific cases. Each reference presents variated sample and mathematical analyses normalized for the present study (see Appendix 1).

#### 5.1.2 Treatments for Staphylococcus aureus infections

For Gram-positive bacteria such as *S. aureus*, the most widespread class of human antibacterials is the  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics, these have a bactericidal effect by inhibiting the synthesis of the peptidoglycan layer of the wall, which is a fundamental part for cellular integrity.<sup>165</sup> Depending on the type of infection and severity of the case, the doctor will prescribe the antibiotic; in different presentations like IV, oral, dermal, and even surgery in the case of arthritis by protheses<sup>166</sup>. However, *S. aureus* has presented an outstanding ability to develop antibacterial resistance. As a result, penicillin is no longer an effective antibiotic to treat *S. aureus* infections in more than 80% of the cases<sup>2</sup>. The difficulty of a resistant *S. aureus* is an example of the warning diminishing efficacy of antimicrobial agents for bacterial infections.<sup>167</sup>

#### 5.2 Antibiotic Resistance

Antibiotic resistance can be defined as the evolutionary changes of bacteria that have generated the loss of antibacterial agents' effectiveness on these organisms. This resistance has become a severe problem due to the massive application of antibiotics in an inappropriate and discontinued way. Resistance can be classified as intrinsic resistance, in which a sudden mutation of genes can develop and acquired resistance by the obtention of resistance genes from other organisms by transposons or plasmids.<sup>3</sup> Hence, a single bacterium can achieve resistance to multiple antibacterial agents, and health organizations are worried about this warning antibiotic resistance. The bacteria can develop resistance by changing proteins, enzymes, and surface targets. These mechanisms can alter targets, inactivate enzymes, activate pump systems, obstacles to permeation, and the formation of biofilms.<sup>168</sup> Some bacteria could present more than one of these mechanisms listed before, hence led to multidrug-resistant bacteria. For example,  $\beta$ -lactam resistant bacteria can develop ability to degrade  $\beta$ -lactam binding sites, and could regulate  $\beta$ -lactam entry and efflux.<sup>165</sup>

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), the development of new and more powerful antibacterial agents has exponentially grown; however, bacteria's ability to mutate and adapt has proven higher rates.<sup>169</sup> This event would lead to the outbreak of hazardous

diseases for the public since these organisms will not respond to any medicine available, causing epidemics and increasing the global mortality rate. Therefore, the development of new antibacterial agents effective against rapid adaptation and acquired resistance is increasingly needed. Some studies have associated the acquired resistance to antibiotics with the resistance to heavy metals, proving these two to be correlated. However, since nanoparticles have presented multiple mechanisms to provoke bacterial death, it is challenging for bacterial strains to develop resistance to nanoparticles.

Also, Zhang et al. 2019, presented an analysis of the sub-inhibitory concentrations of metallic NPs. In this study, they concluded that sub-inhibitory doses can induce Reactive Oxygen Species favorable for the antibacterial effect; However, sub-inhibitory exposure could also increase expression of SOS response, which is responsible of the main mutagenicity that induces antibiotic/ metal resistance.<sup>170</sup>

# 5.2.1 Antibacterial mechanism of NPs

Nanotechnology presents multiple mechanisms for its application as a bactericidal agent, using NPs to disrupt bacterial membranes and block biofilm formation. For the past years, the search for enhanced development of nanoparticles has noted that bimetallic NPs present better antibacterial abilities than their monometallic counterparts. This differentiation is given thanks to the smaller volume and larger surface area of the bimetallic NPs, increasing their ability to penetrate the membranes into bacterial cells.<sup>171</sup> Multiple studies presented NPs' bactericidal properties as more efficient for Gram-positive bacteria, such as Bacillus or Staphylococcus *aureus.*<sup>50</sup> Baptista et al. presented multiple studies on the synergetic effect of the bimetallic nanoparticle with the antibiotic drugs.<sup>172</sup> Hence, the study of the potential antibacterial application is mainly given by drug delivery technologies for more significant bactericidal activity. However, metal-based NPs may present different mechanisms to be developed as antibacterial agents. These can degrade the cellular membrane through electrostatic interactions depending on the surface of the nanoparticle. Another mechanism is triggering reactive oxygen species caused by producing oxidative stress to disrupt the bacterial membrane's proteins and enzymes. Finally, the homeostasis disturbance through the nanoparticles' binding to some proteins of the cellular wall.<sup>171</sup> Bimetallic nanoparticles have been reported as a great bactericidal agent by the utilization of the following mechanisms:

### *i.* Cell Wall Disruption

It is well known that cell walls and membranes are the fundamental barrier for bacterial survival to external factors such as antibiotics; a cell membrane classification could be presented as two main differences: Gram(+) and Gram(-) bacteria.<sup>173</sup> Gram-negative cell membranes are composed of lipidic complexes, therefore allowing the entrance of macromolecules only. Gram-positive cell walls express teichoic acid and a significant number of pores so that particles can be distributed along the molecular phosphate chain. Gram (+) bacteria like *S. aureus* have a high negative charge on the cell wall surface, which will be able to attract and bind to NPs.<sup>174</sup> The interaction of the cell wall with the NPs modifies the structure and permeability of the cell, consequently leading to oxidative stress. The primary mechanism presented regulation of several antioxidant genes and genes for metal transport, reduction, and ATPase pumps, and the concentration of silver ions needed for an optimal antibiotic effect range between 10 nM to 10  $\mu$ M.<sup>175</sup> Therefore, the antibacterial mechanism of these NPs is related to the exhaustion of antioxidant capacity via the action of the metal ions.

#### *ii. Reactive Oxygen Species*

The oxidative stress induced by reactive oxygen species (ROS) is one of the most effective antibacterial mechanisms of engineered nanoparticles. These hazardous species for the bacteria can be superoxide anions, hydroxyl radicals, hydrogen peroxide, and organic hydroperoxides.<sup>176</sup> The concentration of ROS is directly related to their antibacterial activity, due to the reactive species that induce the formation of more ROS. The production of these species can be controlled by the reducing of the particle size and surface properties of the synthesis; in this way, ROS will be induced over the surface of the nanoparticles.

Wang, et al. 2017, states that silver ions produce a catalytic activity to activate the oxygen of the media, leading to producing hydrogen peroxide (oxidative stress). These metal ions are released in the surrounding area of the space that the NP gets attached.<sup>3</sup> Biomolecules such as carboxyl and phosphate groups will become dispersed, destroying the membrane's functionalization and, consequently, leading to bacterial death. This mechanism produces multiple consequences over the bacterial stability: First, the membrane will be injured and

trigger a direct malfunction due to ions flow; therefore, the oxidation of lipids, unfolding of proteins, and eventual modification of RNA will lead to cell death.<sup>171</sup>

#### *iii. Homeostasis Disturbance*

Bacterial exposure to metallic ions can induce abnormal metabolic functions. NPs with positive charges that lead to cell wall erosion and disruption also provoke the accumulation of metallic ions inside the cell wall. Hence, the bacterial cell membrane becomes disordered, and metal ions can interact with cytosolic proteins; consequently, the bacteria lose respiratory and metabolic pathways.<sup>5</sup> Besides these mechanisms, the bimetallic alloy of Ag-Pd nanoparticles can also induce genotoxicity and signal transduction inhibition by modifying chromosomal duplication. These can produce photocatalytic degradation mechanisms thanks to enhanced catalytic properties to attack nucleic acids, lipid, peroxidation processes, and degradation of cell membranes.<sup>171</sup> Thus, the combination of more than one mechanism that BMNPs may produce over the bacteria will achieve an enhanced antibacterial effect.

#### 5.3 Physicochemical Properties for Antibacterial Applications

Physicochemical properties of the bimetallic nanoparticles may directly affect their efficiency towards the bactericidal application. Some properties of BMNPs, such as activity, selectivity, and stability, are determined depending on the dimensions of the bimetallic nanoparticle.<sup>177</sup> As presented in section 3.2, size and morphology can be controlled by the variation of parameters such as temperature, various reducing agents, and the presence of ions.<sup>127</sup> However, large specific surface area, high surface energy, and atomic ligand deficiency may lead to unwanted aggregation of metal NPs. Therefore, it is essential to discuss the main physicochemical parameters to perform an overview of the best factors to optimize their antibacterial activity.

i. Size:

Slonberg et al. 2013, shown that anodic oxidation adjustment of particle length resulted in a prolonged antibacterial activity; particle size and shape played fundamental role in biofilm eradication, more effectively with smaller sizes.<sup>178,179</sup> Therefore, smaller NPs have larger specific surface areas; this characteristic would enhance the ability to attach or enter the

bacterial cell membrane compared to more significant NPs. On the other hand, smaller nanoparticles may present excessive surface energy and high thermodynamic stability, undergoing agglomeration, cluster, and precipitates.<sup>180</sup> Hence, it is essential to control the synthesis of bimetallic nanoparticles to achieve the desired size for an enhanced antibacterial application efficiently.

# *ii.* Surface Chemistry

The surface of the nanoparticle is the main factor by which bimetallic nanoparticles will get attached or repelled to other material surfaces or biological structures like a cell wall; this process is determined by the ligands attached to the surface of the NP, which will determine physical or chemical adsorption. The outermost layer of the BMNPs can vary thanks to the adsorption onto the surface and the strength of the interaction with these molecules.<sup>181</sup> Depending on its structure, the surface chemistry of the outermost nanoparticle will accomplish toxic effects on the bacteria. Therefore, it is required to control specific parameters in the synthesis of the BMNPs, to aim for specific surface chemistry that favors the nanoparticle interaction with the bacterial membrane or with antibiotics.

#### iii. Morphology

NPs can interact at different levels, depending on the morphology. In the case of core-shell structure, the control of the composition and thickness of the shell is crucial to get great antibacterial activity with different enzymes and provoke enhanced cellular membrane damage, depending on their shape. <sup>127</sup> For example, Hong et al. presented prismatic nanoparticles prismatic-shaped NPs as great antibacterial activity against *S. aureus*; they established that bactericidal activity was enhanced due to the shape's interaction nanoparticles and the bacterial cell membrane.<sup>182</sup> Actis et al. developed cube-shaped Ag NPs, which exhibited more potent antibacterial activity than sphere-shaped and wire-shaped Ag NPs; these morphologies presented the exact sizes and, therefore, explained the shape effect antibacterial activity to the specific surface area.<sup>183</sup>

# 5.4 Green Synthesis Techniques used for Antibacterial Activity

The controlled nanofabrication of bimetallic NPs for antibacterial applications is not yet fully displayed; however, the study for a green synthesis has been proposed in the literature for other purposes like plasmid formation, colloidal suspensions, among others; Indicating that a green synthesis is possible for reduction and stabilizing effectiveness. <sup>184</sup> As it can be observed in Table 4, all the viable methods for bimetallic nanofabrication can be developed with green chemistry parameters, except lithography, which requires the use of Cetyltrimethylammonium chloride as a stabilizing agent and by which a greener replacement could not be concreted from literature yet. It is essential to mention that the same synthesis methods are widely used with different chemicals for different metals; however, these can be aimed for greener options, as observed below.

Size (nm)	Shape	Synthesis Method	Hazardous Chemical	Greener option	Ref.	
	Corra shall	Thermal	Hydrazine	Vitamin C	184	
	Core-shell	decomposition	~	Oleic acid	75	
		Lithography	Hydroquinone	Glucose	185	
	Core-shell		Cetyltrimethylammonium chloride	~	80	
>10 Cubic Emulsion and Hydrazine precipitation Triton x100 Cubic Pyrolysis  Clusters Chemical reduction Triton x100 Spherical Sol-Gel.	Hydrazine	Vitamin C	184			
	Cubic	precipitation	Triton x100	Aerosol OT	186	
	Cubio	Durolucio	Sodium Borohydride	Sodium alginate	187	
	Cubic	Fylolysis	~	Trisodium Citrate	95	
	Clusters	Chemical	Sodium Borohydride	Sodium alginate	187	
		reduction	Triton x100	Aerosol OT	186	
	Spharical	Sol-Gel.	~	Ethylene glycol	112	
Sphe	Spherical		~	Silicates	-	
Blades	Milling	~	Sodium hydroxide	84		
	Chemical vapor	~	Sodium hydroxide	92		
	Spliencal	deposition	~	Greener optionVitamin COleic acidGlucose-~Vitamin CAerosol OTSodium alginateTrisodium CitrateSodium alginateSodium alginateSodium alginateSodium alginateSodium alginateGlucoseSodium hydroxideSodium hydroxideSodium ligandsEthylene glycolGlucoseOrganic ligandsEthylene glycolPEGEthylene glycolPEGPVPEthanolVitamin CAerosol OTPEG	-	
10	Clusters	Galvanic	Hydroquinone	Glucose	185	
10-	ShapeSynthesis MethodHazardous ChemicalGreener opCore-shellThermal decompositionHydrazineVitamin G Oleic acidCore-shellLithographyHydroquinoneGlucoseCore-shellLithographyCetyltrimethylammonium chloride~CubicEmulsion and precipitationHydrazineVitamin G Cetyltrimethylammonium chlorideCubicPyrolysisSodium BorohydrideSodium algi ~ClustersChemical 	Organic ligands	123			
1)	Triongular	r Sonochemical	~	Ethylene glycol	124	
-	Thangular		~	PEG		
	Spherical	l Microwave	~	Ethylene glycol		
			~	PVP		
	Spherical	Laser ablation	~	Ethanol	78	
20-	Spharical	I I and the sume of	Hydrazine	Vitamin C	184	
30	spherical	riyuromerinal	Triton x100	Aerosol OT	186	
	Rectangular	Electrochemical	~	PEG	115	

Table 4. Classification of the synthesis methods depending on the sizes and shapes of the bimetallic NPs.

## 5.5 Parameter Analysis for Proper Controlled Synthesis

The study of the synthesis methods presented multiple differences, as presented in Table 1 and Table 2. However, a detailed study of the size, time, temperature, and precursors concentrations obtained from the literature, are presented below with a multivariate graphical design. For better visualization of the data, the parameters were scaled, in which the higher value of the parameter was assigned a value of 1 (see appendix for real values). It is also important to mention that the studies presented in the chart have utilized as-synthesized nanoparticles to prove their antibacterial activity.



Figure 16. Kiviat/ Radar Chart of some synthesis techniques for proper antibacterial applications.

As observed in Figure 16, biological methods presented particles with smaller sizes; and lower precursor concentrations were required for both metals (M1 and M2) when the temperature levels were high, or the time was prolonged. It is also observed that the Solvothermal method required high rates for the four parameters (time, temperature, metal precursors M1 and M2), producing a large nanoparticle size. On the other hand, galvanic replacement utilized the higher metal precursor concentrations and presented the larger size of bimetallic nanoparticles.

As mentioned in section 3.1.3, it is important to diminish the utilization of hazardous precursor concentrations to reduce sub-products and achieve controlled synthesis. Hence, the present analysis suggests that the investigations for bimetallic Ag-Pd nanoparticles, driven via green methods, present feasible, controlled synthesis for a proper antibacterial application.

# **CHAPTER VI**

#### 6. CONCLUSIONS

Nowadays, with the accelerated ability of bacteria to achieve antibiotic resistance, it is important to aim to improve traditional medicine or to develop new technologies to solve this alarming issue worldwide. In Ecuador, the prevalence rate is ~ 30% for *S. aureus*; this bacterium is currently resistant in more than 80% of methicillin. Hence, it is fundamental to the development of an effective antibacterial agent that bacteria hardly could acquire resistance. NPs are proven as a facile, cost-effective, and efficient antibacterial agent against multiple microorganisms such as Gram-positive bacterium like *S. aureus*. Furthermore, nanotechnology keeps advancing in the potential applicability of these systems to improve their bactericidal properties. A promising complex is the nanofabrication of bimetallic nanoparticles, which presented better antibacterial competence in contrast with their monometallic counterparts. However, the development of controlled synthesis techniques is fundamental to guarantee its bactericidal properties. For this reason, different nanofabrication methods are studied to provide an overview of the techniques that will present the desired output. This is also important to aim for greener solutions that could help scale up processes to obtain similar nanoparticles in every batch.

The study of bimetallic Ag-Pd NPs has shown that their small size, with increased surface interactions and varying properties, present nano-toxicity against *S. aureus*. These, presenting mechanisms that damage the cell wall, producing reactive oxygen species and leading to cell death. Eventhough there is registered resistance to nanoparticles, since nanoparticles have presented multiple mechanisms to provoke bacterial death, it is challenging for bacterial strains to develop resistance to nanoparticles. Hence, as presented, various mechanisms of Ag-Pd NPs state the application of bimetallic NPs as a potential antibacterial agent.

Finally, as observed in the multivariate study the bibliographic review supported biological methods can fully control the synthesis of NPs, with less hazardous chemical concentrations and outcoming stable and small-sized NPs. Hence, it is possible to seek the synthesis of bimetallic Ag-Pd NPs via green synthesis techniques since this process can control the parameters to obtain the desired properties for their application as antibacterial agents.

# **6.1 Limitations and Outlooks**

- i. Even though NPs sound like a promising tool for bacterial issues, their scale-up processes are still a challenge that the scientific community must overcome.
- ii. To synthesize BMNPs with the correct technique, it is important to keep a clear record of stability assays.
- iii. Innovative techniques should be presented to avoid the utilization of hazardous chemicals that produce non-ecological subproducts. It is recommended to screen for safer chemicals to aim for a greener synthesis, especially on scale-up processes.
- iv. Ag-Pd NPs have presented remarkable catalytical properties, but recent studies present the importance of their analysis as a bactericidal agent.
- v. Bimetallic NPs can be used on coatings to avoid biofilm formation, on hospital surfaces to clear direct contamination, on biomedical instrumentation to prevent infectious diseases caused by catheters, or in laboratories to evade cross-contamination, which regularly contaminates samples and leads to false positive/negative reports.
- vi. The utilization of many platforms and organizations that develop studies and databases for the efficient replacement of hazardous chemicals for eco-friendly options. Some of these are PISCTOX, Basta, Subsport, Cleantool, among others.

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Van Hal, S. J.; Jensen, S. O.; Vaska, V. L.; Espedido, B. A.; Paterson, D. L.; Gosbell,
   I. B. Predictors of Mortality in Staphylococcus Aureus Bacteremia. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 2012, 25 (2), 362–386. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.05022-11.
- David, M.; Daum, R. Treatment of Staphylococcus Aureus Infections. Springer Int. Publ. 2017, 325. https://doi.org/10.1007/82\_2017\_42.
- Wang, L.; Hu, C.; Shao, L. The Antimicrobial Activity of Nanoparticles: Present Situation and Prospects for the Future. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 2017, *12*, 1227–1249. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S121956.
- Knetsch, M. L. W.; Koole, L. H. New Strategies in the Development of Antimicrobial Coatings: The Example of Increasing Usage of Silver and Silver Nanoparticles. *Polymers (Basel).* 2011, *3* (1), 340–366. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym3010340.
- Kim, J. S.; Kuk, E.; Yu, K. N.; Kim, J. H.; Park, S. J.; Lee, H. J.; Kim, S. H.; Park, Y. K.; Park, Y. H.; Hwang, C. Y.; Kim, Y. K.; Lee, Y. S.; Jeong, D. H.; Cho, M. H. Antimicrobial Effects of Silver Nanoparticles. *Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol. Med.* 2007, *3* (1), 95–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2006.12.001.
- Xu, C.; Chen, Q.; Ding, R.; Huang, S.; Zhang, Y.; Fan, G. Sustainable Solid-State Synthesis of Uniformly Distributed PdAg Alloy Nanoparticles for Electrocatalytic Hydrogen Oxidation and Evolution. *Chinese J. Catal.* 2021, *42* (2), 251–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1872-2067(20)63650-6.
- Duffo, G. Materiales y Materias Primas. In *Materiales y Materias Primas*; Osainder,
   R., Garrison Darrin, A., Champion, L. J., Eds.; Instituto Nacional de Educación
   Tecnológica., 2011; p 43.
- (8) Dowling, a; Clift, R.; Grobert, N.; Hutton, D.; Oliver, R.; O'neill, O.; Pethica, J.;
  Pidgeon, N.; Porritt, J.; Ryan, J.; Et Al. Nanoscience and Nanotechnologies :
  Opportunities and Uncertainties. *London R. Soc. R. Acad. Eng. Rep.* 2004, 46 (July), 618–618. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00234-004-1255-6.
- Ojha, S.; Singh, D.; Sett, A.; Chetia, H.; Kabiraj, D.; Bora, U. Nanotechnology in Crop Protection; 2018; Vol. 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811487-2.00016-5.
- (10) Murr, L. E. Handbook of Materials Structures, Properties, Processing and Performance; 2015. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-01815-7.
- (11) Fraile Romero, M. C. Estudio de Las Interacciones Entre Nanopartículas de Metales

Nobles y ADN. 2016, 39.

- (12) Poole, C. P.; Frank Owens, J. J. INTRODUCTION TO NANOTECHNOLOGY Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data.
- (13) Guo, D.; Xie, G.; Luo, J. Mechanical Properties of Nps.Pdf. J. Physiscs 2013. https://doi.org/10.1088/0022-3727/47/1/013001.
- (14) Srinoi, P.; Chen, Y. T.; Vittur, V.; Marquez, M. D.; Lee, T. R. Bimetallic Nanoparticles: Enhanced Magnetic and Optical Properties for Emerging Biological Applications; 2018; Vol. 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/app8071106.
- Martínez-Abad, A. Silver-Based Antimicrobial Polymers for Food Packaging. *Multifunct. Nanoreinforced Polym. Food Packag.* 2011, 347–367. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857092786.3.347.
- (16) Bansmann, J.; Baker, S. H.; Binns, C.; Blackman, J. A.; Bucher, J. P.; Dorantes-Dávila, J.; Dupuis, V.; Favre, L.; Kechrakos, D.; Kleibert, A.; Meiwes-Broer, K. H.; Pastor, G. M.; Perez, A.; Toulemonde, O.; Trohidou, K. N.; Tuaillon, J.; Xie, Y. Magnetic and Structural Properties of Isolated and Assembled Clusters. In *Surface Science Reports*; Elsevier B.V., 2005; Vol. 56, pp 189–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surfrep.2004.10.001.
- (17) Yoo, D.; Lee, J. H.; Shin, T. H.; Cheon, J. Theranostic Magnetic Nanoparticles. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2011, 44 (10), 863–874. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar200085c.
- (18) Reiss, G.; Hütten, A. Magnetic Nanoparticles: Applications beyond Data Storage. *Nat. Mater.* 2005, *4* (10), 725–726. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat1494.
- Pattadar, D. K.; Sharma, J. N.; Mainali, B. P.; Zamborini, F. P. Impact of the Assembly Method on the Surface Area-to-Volume Ratio and Electrochemical Oxidation Potential of Metal Nanospheres. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2019, *123* (39), 24304–24312. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.9b06555.
- Modena, M. M.; Rühle, B.; Burg, T. P.; Wuttke, S. Nanoparticle Characterization: What to Measure? *Adv. Mater.* 2019, *31* (32), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201901556.
- (21) Orendorff, C. J.; Sau, T. K.; Murphy, C. J. Shape-Dependent Plasmon-Resonant Gold Nanoparticles. *Small* 2006, 2 (5), 636–639. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.200500299.
- Behera, A.; Mittu, B.; Padhi, S.; Patra, N.; Singh, J. *Bimetallic Nanoparticles: Green Synthesis, Applications, and Future Perspectives*; Elsevier Inc., 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-821354-4.00025-x.
- (23) Bouloudenine, M.; Bououdina, M. Toxic Effects of Engineered Nanoparticles on

Living Cells. In *Emerging Research on Bioinspired Materials Engineering*; IGI Global, 2016; pp 35–68. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-9811-6.ch002.

- (24) Dykman, L. A.; Khlebtsov, N. G. Gold Nanoparticles in Biology and Medicine: Recent Advances and Prospects. *Acta Naturae* 2011, *3* (2), 34–55. https://doi.org/10.32607/20758251-2011-3-2-34-56.
- Khan, I.; Khan, I.; Khalid, S. Nanoparticles\_ Properties, Applications and Toxicities.Pdf. Elsevier B.V. 2017, p 24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2017.05.011.
- (26) Ju-Nam, Y.; Lead, J. R. Manufactured Nanoparticles: An Overview of Their Chemistry, Interactions and Potential Environmental Implications. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2008, 400 (1–3), 396–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.06.042.
- (27) Freund, R.; Lächelt, U.; Gruber, T.; Rühle, B.; Wuttke, S. Multifunctional Efficiency: Extending the Concept of Atom Economy to Functional Nanomaterials. *ACS Nano* 2018, *12* (3), 2094–2105. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.8b00932.
- (28) Kulkarni, V. Handbook of non-invasive drug delivery systems : science and technology - Ghent University Library https://lib.ugent.be/catalog/ebk01:256000000004117 (accessed Mar 19, 2021).
- (29) Fratoddi, I. Hydrophobic and Hydrophilic Au and Ag Nanoparticles. Breakthroughs and Perspectives. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano8010011.
- (30) Sawada, I.; Fachrul, R.; Ito, T.; Ohmukai, Y.; Maruyama, T.; Matsuyama, H.
  Development of a Hydrophilic Polymer Membrane Containing Silver Nanoparticles with Both Organic Antifouling and Antibacterial Properties. *J. Memb. Sci.* 2012, 387–388 (1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2011.06.020.
- (31) Shackelford, J. . *Introducción a La Ciencia de Materiales Para Ingenieros*; Guemes, A., Ed.; Pearson, Pertice Hall, 2005; Vol. 6.
- (32) Kulkarni, S. K. *Nanotechnology : Principles and Practices*, Third.; Springer International, 2015.
- (33) Mourdikoudis, S.; Pallares, R. M.; Thanh, N. T. K. Characterization Techniques for Nanoparticles: Comparison and Complementarity upon Studying Nanoparticle Properties. *Nanoscale*. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8nr02278j.
- (34) De Caro, C. UV / VIS Spectrophotometry. In *Mettler-Toledo International*; Mettler Toledo, 2015; pp 5–14.
- (35) Zhang, X.-F.; Liu, Z.-G.; Shen, W.; Gurunathan, S. Silver Nanoparticles\_ Synthesis, Characterization, Properties, Applications, and Therapeutic Approaches \_ Enhanced Reader.Pdf. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2016. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17091534.

- (36) Zhou, W.; Greer, H. F. What Can Electron Microscopy Tell Us beyond Crystal Structures? *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* 2016, 2016 (7), 941–950. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejic.201501342.
- (37) Goldstein, J. I.; Newbury, D. E.; Michael, J. R.; Ritchie, N. W. M.; Scott, J. H. J.; Joy, D. C.; Goldstein, J. I.; Newbury, D. E.; Michael, J. R.; Ritchie, N. W. M.; Scott, J. H. J.; Joy, D. C. Electron Beam—Specimen Interactions: Interaction Volume. In *Scanning Electron Microscopy and X-Ray Microanalysis*; Springer New York: New York, NY, 2018; pp 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6676-9\_1.
- (38) Stokes, D. J. Environmental Scanning Electron Miscroscopy; 2012. https://doi.org/do/10.1002/micro.266.
- (39) Baer, D. R.; Thevuthasan, S. Characterization of Thin Films and Coatings. In Handbook of Deposition Technologies for Films and Coatings; Elsevier Ltd., 2010; pp 749–864. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-8155-2031-3.00016-8.
- (40) Tanuma, S.; Powell, C. J.; Penn, D. R. Proposed Formula for Electron Inelastic Mean Free Paths Based on Calculations for 31 Materials. *Surf. Sci. Lett.* 1997, *192* (1), L849–L857. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-2584(87)90829-2.
- (41) Tomaszewska, E.; Soliwoda, K.; Kadziola, K.; Tkacz-szczesna, B.; Celichowski, G.; Cichomski, M.; Szmaja, W.; Grobelny, J. Detection Limits DLS and UV-Vis Spectroscopy Characterization of Nanoparticles. *Nanomaterials* 2013, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/313081.
- (42) Hoo, C. M.; Starostin, N.; West, P.; Mecartney, M. L. A Comparison of Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) and Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS) Methods to Characterize Nanoparticle Size Distributions. *J. Nanoparticle Res.* 2008, *10* (SUPPL. 1), 89–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-008-9435-7.
- (43) Varenne, F.; Makky, A.; Gaucher-Delmas, M.; Violleau, F.; Vauthier, C. Multimodal Dispersion of Nanoparticles: A Comprehensive Evaluation of Size Distribution with 9 Size Measurement Methods. *Pharm. Res.* 2016, *33* (5), 1220–1234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-016-1867-7.
- (44) LS Instruments | Introduction https://lsinstruments.ch/en/theory/dynamic-light-scattering-dls/introduction (accessed Mar 17, 2021).
- (45) Giessibl, F. J. Advances in Atomic Force Microscopy. In *Reviews of Modern Physics*;
  2003; Vol. 75, pp 949–983. https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.75.949.
- (46) Seo, Y.; Jhe, W. Atomic Force Microscopy and Spectroscopy. *Reports Prog. Phys.* **2008**, 71 (1), 016101. https://doi.org/10.1088/0034-4885/71/1/016101.

- (47) Sanchez, M. Nanopartículas De Plata : Preparación , Caracterización Y Propiedades Con Aplicacion En Inocuidad., Universidad Nacional Educacion a Distancia, 2017.
- (48) Claybourn, M.; Turner, P. H. Fourier Transform Infrared and Raman Studies of Coatings; 1993. https://doi.org/10.1021/ba-1993-0236.ch016.
- (49) Muttaquin, S. Principles of FTIR https://www.slideshare.net/muttaqinpapasafira/principles-of-ftir (accessed Mar 17, 2021).
- (50) Yaqoob, S. B.; Adnan, R.; Rameez Khan, R. M.; Rashid, M. Gold, Silver, and Palladium Nanoparticles: A Chemical Tool for Biomedical Applications. *Frontiers in Chemistry*. 2020. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2020.00376.
- (51) Ramazani, A.; Aghahosseini, H. Engineered Nanomaterial for Catalysis Industry; Elsevier Inc., 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813351-4.00012-2.
- (52) Narayan, N.; Meiyazhagan, A.; Vajtai, R. Metal Nanoparticles as Green Catalysts. *Materials (Basel).* 2019, *12* (21), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma12213602.
- (53) Nathanson, J.; Oakley, M. Environmental Engineering; 2018; Vol. 110.
- (54) Santosha, K. *Mechanical Sciences: The Way Forward*, Department.; Dixit, U., Ed.;
   Springer Nature Singapore: Guwahati, India., 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-51712-5.
- (55) Shiba, K.; Imamura, G.; Yoshikawa, G. *Nanomechanical Sensors*; Elsevier Inc., 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-37127-8.00011-X.
- (56) Shao, W.; Nabb, D.; Renevier, N.; Sherrington, I.; Luo, J. K. Mechanical and Corrosion Resistance Properties of TiO2 Nanoparticles Reinforced Ni Coating by Electrodeposition. *IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng.* **2012**, *40* (1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/40/1/012043.
- (57) Baker, C.; Pradhan, A.; Pakstis, L.; Pochan, D. J.; Shah, S. I. Synthesis and Antibacterial Properties of Silver Nanoparticles. *J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* 2005, 5 (2), 244–249. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2005.034.
- (58) Eckhardt, S.; Brunetto, P. S.; Gagnon, J.; Priebe, M.; Giese, B.; Fromm, K. M.
   Nanobio Silver: Its Interactions with Peptides and Bacteria, and Its Uses in Medicine.
   *Chem. Rev.* 2013, *113* (7), 4708–4754. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr300288v.
- (59) Monteiro, D. R.; Silva, S.; Negri, M.; Gorup, L. F.; de Camargo, E. R.; Oliveira, R.;
  Barbosa, D. B.; Henriques, M. Antifungal Activity of Silver Nanoparticles in
  Combination with Nystatin and Chlorhexidine Digluconate against Candida Albicans
  and Candida Glabrata Biofilms. *Mycoses* 2013, 56 (6), 672–680.
https://doi.org/10.1111/myc.12093.

- (60) Xiang, D. xi; Chen, Q.; Pang, L.; Zheng, C. long. Inhibitory Effects of Silver Nanoparticles on H1N1 Influenza A Virus in Vitro. J. Virol. Methods 2011, 178 (1–2), 137–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2011.09.003.
- (61) Wong, C.; Chung, P.; Ip, W.; Lam, C. Intracellular Signaling Mechanisms Regulating Receptor-Mediated Activation of Eosinophils. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology 2007, pp 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2006-0457OC.
- (62) Kalishwaralal, K.; Banumathi, E.; Pandian, S. B. R. K.; Deepak, V.; Muniyandi, J.;
  Eom, S. H.; Gurunathan, S. Silver Nanoparticles Inhibit VEGF Induced Cell
  Proliferation and Migration in Bovine Retinal Endothelial Cells. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces* 2009, 73 (1), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2009.04.025.
- (63) Asharani, P. V; Low, G.; Mun, K.; Hande, M. P.; Valiyaveettil, S. Cytotoxicity and Genotoxicity of Silver. ACS Nano 2009, 3 (2), 279–290. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn800596w.
- (64) Zhao, Y.; Dai, X.; Wang, F.; Zhang, X.; Fan, C.; Liu, X. Nanofabrication Based on DNA Nanotechnology. *Nano Today* 2019, 26, 123–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2019.03.004.
- (65) Sachse, A.; Linares, N.; Barbaro, P.; Galarneau, A. Selective Hydrogenation over Pd Nanoparticles Supported on a Pore-Flow-through Silica Monolith Microreactor with Hierarchical Porosity. *Dalt. Trans.* 2013, 1378–1384. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2dt31690k.
- (66) Dumas, A.; Couvreur, P. Palladium: A Future Key Player in the Nanomedical Field? *Chemical Science*. 2015, pp 2153–2157. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5sc00070j.
- (67) Prabhuram, J.; Zhao, T. S.; Tang, Z. K.; Chen, R.; Liang, Z. X. Multiwalled Carbon Nanotube Supported PtRu for the Anode of Direct Methanol Fuel Cells; 2006. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-01815-7.
- (68) He, J.; Kunitake, T. Facile Fabrication of Nanoparticles in the Nanospace of Ultrathin TiO 2-Gel Films: Composition, Morphology and Catalytic Activity. *Mater. Res. Soc. Symp. - Proc.* 2003, 794, 23–28. https://doi.org/10.1557/proc-794-t3.6.
- (69) Loza, K.; Heggen, M.; Epple, M. Synthesis, Structure, Properties, and Applications of Bimetallic Nanoparticles of Noble Metals. *Advanced Functional Materials*. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201909260.
- Huynh, K. H.; Pham, X. H.; Kim, J.; Lee, S. H.; Chang, H.; Rho, W. Y.; Jun, B. H.Synthesis, Properties, and Biological Applications of Metallic Alloy Nanoparticles.

Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2020, 21 (14), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21145174.

- (71) Zanella, R. Metodologías Para La Síntesis de Nanopartículas Controlando Forma y Tamaño. *Mundo Nano. Rev. Interdiscip. en Nanociencia y Nanotecnología* 2014, 5 (1), 69–81. https://doi.org/10.22201/ceiich.24485691e.2012.1.45167.
- Mattox, D. M. Deposition Processes. In *The Foundations of Vacuum Coating Technology*; Elsevier, 2003; pp 11–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-081551495-4.50009-7.
- (73) Ijaz, I.; Gilani, E.; Nazir, A.; Bukhari, A. Review on Chemical, Physical and Green Synthesis, Classification, Characterizations and Appli.Pdf. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1080/17518253.2020.1802517.
- (74) Salavati-Niasari, M.; Davar, F.; Mir, N. Synthesis and Characterization of Metallic Copper Nanoparticles via Thermal Decomposition. *Polyhedron* 2008, 27 (17), 3514– 3518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poly.2008.08.020.
- (75) Hao, H.; Li, H.; Wang, S.; Cheng, Z.; Fang, Y. Epitaxial Growth of Ag-Cu Bimetallic Nanoparticles via Thermal Evaporation Deposition. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2020, 505, 143871. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2019.143871.
- (76) Lee, G.-H. Green Synthesis of MgO Nanowires Employing Solar Thermal Energy. https://doi.org/10.2109/jcersj2.124.P1-1.
- (77) Beyth, N.; Houri-Haddad, Y.; Domb, A.; Khan, W.; Hazan, R. Alternative Antimicrobial Approach: Nano-Antimicrobial Materials. *Evidence-based Complement*. *Altern. Med.* 2015, 2015, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/246012.
- (78) Naser, H.; Alghoul, M. A.; Hossain, M. K.; Asim, N.; Abdullah, M. F.; Ali, M. S.;
  Alzubi, F. G.; Amin, N. The Role of Laser Ablation Technique Parameters in Synthesis of Nanoparticles from Different Target Types. *J. Nanoparticle Res.* 2019, 21 (11), 249. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-019-4690-3.
- (79) Novembre, A.; Liu, S. Chemistry and Processing of Resists for Nanolithography. In Nanolithography: The Art of Fabricating Nanoelectronic and Nanophotonic Devices and Systems; Elsevier Ltd, 2013; pp 194–286. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857098757.194.
- (80) Cha, S. K.; Mun, J. H.; Chang, T.; Kim, S. Y.; Kim, J. Y.; Jin, H. M.; Lee, J. Y.; Shin, J.; Kim, K. H.; Kim, S. O. Au-Ag Core-Shell Nanoparticle Array by Block Copolymer Lithography for Synergistic Broadband Plasmonic Properties. *ACS Nano* 2015, *9* (5), 5536–5543. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.5b01641.
- (81) Tang, Z.; Wei, A. Fabrication of Anisotropic Metal Nanostructures Using Innovations

in Template-Assisted Lithography. *ACS Nano* **2012**, *6* (2), 998–1003. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn300375r.

- (82) Cheng, X. Nanostructures: Fabrication and Applications. In Nanolithography: The Art of Fabricating Nanoelectronic and Nanophotonic Devices and Systems; Elsevier Ltd, 2013; pp 348–375. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857098757.348.
- (83) Ghorbani, H. R. A Review of Methods for Synthesis of Al Nanoparticles. *Orient. J. Chem.* 2014, 30 (4), 1941–1949. https://doi.org/10.13005/ojc/300456.
- (84) Ban, I.; Stergar, J.; Drofenik, M.; Ferk, G.; Makovec, D. Synthesis of Copper-Nickel Nanoparticles Prepared by Mechanical Milling for Use in Magnetic Hyperthermia. *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.* 2011, 323 (17), 2254–2258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmmm.2011.04.004.
- (85) Pearce, A. K.; Wilks, T. R.; Arno, M. C.; O'Reilly, R. K. Synthesis and Applications of Anisotropic Nanoparticles with Precisely Defined Dimensions. *Nat. Rev. Chem.*2020. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41570-020-00232-7.
- (86) Kirchweger, G. Nanoparticles The next Big Thing?; 2002; Vol. 6. https://doi.org/10.1006/mthe.2002.0686.
- (87) Maqsood, A. M.; Mohammad, Y. W.; Mohd, A. H. Microemulsion Method: A Novel Route to Synthesize Organic and Inorganic Nanomaterials. *King Saud Univ.* 2010, 404–409. https://doi.org/:10.1016/j.arabjc.2010.09.027.
- (88) Zhang, X.; Chan, K. Y. Water-in-Oil Microemulsion Synthesis of Platinum-Ruthenium Nanoparticles, Their Characterization and Electrocatalytic Properties. *Chem. Mater.* 2003, *15* (2), 451–459. https://doi.org/10.1021/cm0203868.
- (89) Ollivier, M.; Flouret, J.; Borda, G.; Charton, S. Innovative Precipitation in Emulsion Process: Toward a Non-Nuclear Industrial Application. *Procedia Chem.* 2016, 21, 211–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proche.2016.10.030.
- (90) Dahmen, K.-H. Chemical Vapor Deposition. In *Encyclopedia of Physical Science and Technology*; Elsevier, 2003; pp 787–808. https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-227410-5/00102-2.
- (91) Choi, B. H.; Kim, Y. M.; Kim, Y. B.; Lee, J. H.; Shin, D. C. Synthesis of Bimetallic Nanoparticles and Their Application to Growth of Multiwalled Carbon Nanotube Forest. *J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* **2010**, *10* (5), 3543–3546. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2010.2309.
- (92) Khiriya, P. K.; Moradiya, M. A.; Khare, P. S. Development of Fe/Ru Bimetallic Nanoparticles for Promising Application in the Selective Synthesis of SWNTs. *Mat*

2020, 2020, 250-0255. https://doi.org/10.33263/Materials22.250255.

- (93) Wu, W.; Jauregui, L. A.; Su, Z.; Liu, Z.; Bao, J.; Chen, Y. P.; Yu, Q. Growth of Single Crystal Graphene Arrays by Locally Controlling Nucleation on Polycrystalline Cu Using Chemical Vapor Deposition. *Adv. Mater.* 2011, 23 (42), 4898–4903. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201102456.
- (94) Rao, C. N. .; Muller, A.; Eds, A. K. C. The Chemistry of Nanomaterials\_Synthesis, Properties and Applications; 2004.
- (95) Zhao, Y.; Yang, X.; Tian, J.; Wang, F.; Zhan, L. Methanol Electro-Oxidation on Ni@Pd Core-Shell Nanoparticles Supported on Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotubes in Alkaline Media. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy* 2010, *35* (8), 3249–3257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.01.112.
- (96) Huang, C. Y.; Chiang, H. J.; Huang, J. C.; Sheen, S. R. Synthesis of Nanocrystalline Ag-Pd Alloys by Chemical Reduction Method. *Nanostructured Mater.* 1998, *10* (8), 1393–1400. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0965-9773(99)00018-5.
- (97) Cobley, C. M.; Xia, Y. Engineering the Properties of Metal Nanostructures via Galvanic Replacement Reactions. In *Materials Science and Engineering R: Reports*; 2010; Vol. 70, pp 44–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mser.2010.06.002.
- (98) Jing, H.; Wang, H. Structural Evolution of Ag-Pd Bimetallic Nanoparticles through Controlled Galvanic Replacement: Effects of Mild Reducing Agents. *Chem. Mater.* 2015, 27 (6), 2172–2180. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemmater.5b00199.
- Xia, X.; Wang, Y.; Ruditskiy, A.; Xia, Y. Galvanic Replacement: A Simple and Versatile Route to Hollow Nanostructures with Tunable and Well-Controlled Properties. *Adv. Mater.* 2013, 25 (44), 6313–6333. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201302820.
- (100) Rajamathi, M.; Seshadri, R. Oxide and Chalcogenide Nanoparticles from Hydrothermal/Solvothermal Reactions. *Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci.* 2002, 6 (4), 337–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-0286(02)00029-3.
- (101) Wang, W.; Cao, G. Synthesis and Structural Investigation of Pd/Ag Bimetallic Nanoparticles Prepared by the Solvothermal Method. *J. Nanoparticle Res.* 2007, 9 (6), 1153–1161. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-006-9203-5.
- (102) Huo, J.; Wei, M. Characterization and Magnetic Properties of Nanocrystalline Nickel Ferrite Synthesized by Hydrothermal Method. *Mater. Lett.* 2009, 63 (13–14), 1183– 1184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matlet.2009.02.024.
- (103) Hayashi, H.; Hakuta, Y. Hydrothermal Synthesis of Metal Oxide Nanoparticles in

Supercritical Water. *Materials (Basel)*. **2010**, *3* (7), 3794–3817. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma3073794.

- (104) Saeed, G. H. M.; Radiman, S.; Gasaymeh, S. S.; Lim, H. N.; Huang, N. M. Mild Hydrothermal Synthesis of Ni-Cu Nanoparticles. J. Nanomater. 2010, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/184137.
- (105) Rane, A. V.; Kanny, K.; Abitha, V. K.; Thomas, S. Methods for Synthesis of Nanoparticles and Fabrication of Nanocomposites; Elsevier Ltd., 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-101975-7.00005-1.
- (106) Rutherford, E. E.; Stedman, B.; Breen, D. J. Interventional Ultrasound in the Abdomen. In *Clinical Ultrasound*; Elsevier Ltd, 2011; Vol. 2, pp 847–864. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-7020-3131-1.00043-2.
- (107) Das, S.; Mukhopadhyay, A. K.; Datta, S.; Basu, D. Prospects of Microwave Processing: An Overview. *Bull. Mater. Sci* 2009, *32* (1), 1–13.
- (108) Nadagouda, M. N.; Speth, T. F.; Varma, R. S. Microwave-Assisted Green Synthesis of Silver Nanostructures. Acc. Chem. Res. 2011, 44 (7), 469–478. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar1001457.
- (109) Rodriguez, E. Electromagnetic spectrum | Britannica
   https://www.britannica.com/science/electromagnetic-spectrum (accessed Mar 14, 2021).
- (110) Horikoshi, S.; Serpone, N. Nanoparticle Synthesis through Microwave Heating. In Microwaves in Nanoparticle Synthesis: Fundamentals and Applications; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, Germany, 2013; pp 75–105. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527648122.ch5.
- (111) Kumari, N.; Kour, S.; Singh, G.; Chauhan, A.; Verma, R.; Sharma, R. K. A Brief Review on the Synthesis of Bimetallic Nanoparticles for Biomedical and Solar Energy Applications. *AIP Conf. Proc.* **2020**, *2220* (May). https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0001320.
- (112) Devarajan, S.; Bera, P.; Sampath, S. Bimetallic Nanoparticles: A Single Step Synthesis, Stabilization, and Characterization of Au-Ag, Au-Pd, and Au-Pt in Sol-Gel Derived Silicates. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* 2005, 290 (1), 117–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2005.04.034.
- (113) Hu, P.; Chang, T.; Chen, W. J.; Deng, J.; Li, S. L.; Zuo, Y. G.; Kang, L.; Yang, F.; Hostetter, M.; Volinsky, A. A. Temperature Effects on Magnetic Properties of Fe3O4 Nanoparticles Synthesized by the Sol-Gel Explosion-Assisted Method. *J. Alloys Compd.* 2019, 773, 605–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jallcom.2018.09.238.
- (114) Ren, H. X.; Huang, X. J.; Kim, J. H.; Choi, Y. K.; Gu, N. Pt/Au Bimetallic

Hierarchical Structure with Micro/Nano-Array via Photolithography and Electrochemical Synthesis: From Design to GOT and GPT Biosensors. *Talanta* **2009**, 78 (4–5), 1371–1377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2009.02.024.

- (115) Yang, J.; Deng, S.; Lei, J.; Ju, H.; Gunasekaran, S. Electrochemical Synthesis of Reduced Graphene Sheet-AuPd Alloy Nanoparticle Composites for Enzymatic Biosensing. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 2011, 29 (1), 159–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2011.08.011.
- (116) Roldán, M. V.; Pellegri, N.; de Sanctis, O. Electrochemical Method for Ag-PEG Nanoparticles Synthesis. J. Nanoparticles 2013, 2013, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/524150.
- (117) The ACS Green Chemistry Institue. *Design Principles for Sustainable Green Chemistry & Engineering*; 2015.
- (118) Anastas, P.; Werner, J. 12 Principles of Green Chemistry https://www.acs.org/content/acs/en/greenchemistry/principles/12-principles-of-greenchemistry.html.
- (119) Kalishwaralal, K.; Deepak, V.; Ramkumarpandian, S.; Nellaiah, H.; Sangiliyandi, G. Extracellular Biosynthesis of Silver Nanoparticles by the Culture Supernatant of Bacillus Licheniformis. *Mater. Lett.* 2008, 62 (29), 4411–4413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matlet.2008.06.051.
- (120) Lloyd, J. R.; Yong, P.; Macaskie, L. E. Enzymatic Recovery of Elemental Palladium by Using Sulfate-Reducing Bacteria. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 1998, 64 (11), 4607– 4609. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.64.11.4607-4609.1998.
- (121) Sumbal; Nadeem, A.; Naz, S.; Sarfraz Ali, J.; Mannan, A.; Zia, M. Synthesis, characterization and biological activities of monometallic and bimetallic nanoparticles using Mirabilis jalapa leaf extract. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.btre.2019.e00338.
- (122) Pantidos, N.; Horsfall, L. E. Biological Synthesis of Metallic Nanoparticles by Bacteria, Fungi and Plants. 2014. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7439.1000233.
- (123) Wu, K. J.; Gao, Y.; Torrente-Murciano, L. Continuous Synthesis of Hollow Silver-Palladium Nanoparticles for Catalytic Applications. *Faraday Discuss.* 2018, 208, 427– 441. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8fd00001h.
- (124) Kan, C.; Cai, W.; Li, C.; Zhang, L.; Hofmeister, H. Ultrasonic Synthesis and Optical Properties of Au/Pd Bimetallic Nanoparticles in Ethylene Glycol. *J. Phys. D. Appl. Phys.* 2003, *36* (13), 1609–1614. https://doi.org/10.1088/0022-3727/36/13/328.
- (125) Li, L.; Liu, H.; Bian, J.; Zhang, X.; Fu, Y.; Li, Z.; Wei, S.; Xu, Z.; Liu, X.; Liu, Z.;

Wang, D.; Gao, D. Ag/Pd Bimetal Nanozyme with Enhanced Catalytic and Photothermal Effects for ROS/Hyperthermia/Chemotherapy Triple-Modality Antitumor Therapy. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2020**, *397* (April), 125438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.125438.

- (126) Ghadimi, H.; Nasiri-Tabrizi, B.; Nia, P. M.; Basirun, W. J.; Tehrani, R. M. A.; Lorestani, F. Nanocomposites of Nitrogen-Doped Graphene Decorated with a Palladium Silver Bimetallic Alloy for Use as a Biosensor for Methotrexate Detection. *RSC Adv.* 2015, 5 (120), 99555–99565. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5ra18109g.
- (127) Ali, S.; Sharma, A. S.; Ahmad, W.; Zareef, M.; Hassan, M. M.; Viswadevarayalu, A.; Jiao, T.; Li, H.; Chen, Q. Noble Metals Based Bimetallic and Trimetallic Nanoparticles: Controlled Synthesis, Antimicrobial and Anticancer Applications. *Crit. Rev. Anal. Chem.* 2020, 0 (0), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408347.2020.1743964.
- (128) Wen, Y.; Ren, F.; Bai, T.; Xu, H.; Du, Y. Facile Construction of Trimetallic PtAuRu Nanostructures with Highly Porous Features and Perpendicular Pore Channels as Enhanced Formic Acid Catalysts. *Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp.* 2018, 537, 418–424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2017.10.049.
- (129) Yang, J.; Wang, X. Y.; Zhou, L.; Lu, F.; Cai, N.; Li, J. M. Highly Sensitive SERS Monitoring of Catalytic Reaction by Bifunctional Ag-Pd Triangular Nanoplates. *J. Saudi Chem. Soc.* 2019, 23 (7), 887–895. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jscs.2019.01.007.
- (130) Dutta, S.; Ray, C.; Sasmal, A. K.; Negishi, Y.; Pal, T. Fabrication of Dog-Bone Shaped Au NRcore-Pt/Pdshell Trimetallic Nanoparticle-Decorated Reduced Graphene Oxide Nanosheets for Excellent Electrocatalysis. J. Mater. Chem. A 2016, 4 (10), 3765–3776. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6ta00379f.
- (131) Zhang, H.; Jin, M.; Liu, H.; Wang, J.; Kim, M. J.; Yang, D.; Xie, Z.; Liu, J.; Xia, Y. Facile Synthesis of Pd-Pt Alloy Nanocages and Their Enhanced Performance for Preferential Oxidation of Co in Excess Hydrogen. *ACS Nano* 2011, 5 (10), 8212–8222. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn202896q.
- (132) Suska, F.; Svensson, S.; Johansson, A.; Emanuelsson, L.; Karlholm, H.; Ohrlander, M.; Thomsen, P. In Vivo Evaluation of Noble Metal Coatings. *Wiley Period. Inc.* 2009, 86–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.31492.
- (133) Barlag, H.; Opara, L.; Züchner, H. Hydrogen Diffusion in Palladium Based f.c.c. Alloys. J. Alloys Compd. 2002, 330–332, 434–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-8388(01)01459-1.
- (134) Cui, M.; Johnson, G.; Zhang, Z.; Li, S.; Hwang, S.; Zhang, X.; Zhang, S. AgPd

Nanoparticles for Electrocatalytic CO2reduction: Bimetallic Composition-Dependent Ligand and Ensemble Effects. *Nanoscale* **2020**, *12* (26), 14068–14075. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0nr03203d.

- (135) Li, B.; Moriarty, T. F.; Webster, T.; Xing, M. Racing for the Surface: Antimicrobial and Interface Tissue Engineering; Elsevier, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-34471-9.
- (136) El-Boubbou, K.; Landry, C. C. Nanoparticles in Biocatalysis. In New and Future Developments in Catalysis: Catalysis by Nanoparticles; Elsevier B.V., 2013; pp 95– 123. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-53874-1.00004-4.
- (137) Yin, Z.; Lin, L.; Ma, D. Construction of Pd-Based Nanocatalysts for Fuel Cells: Opportunities and Challenges. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2014, *4* (12), 4116–4128. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4cy00760c.
- (138) Patra, J. K.; Das, G.; Fraceto, L. F.; Campos, E. V. R.; Rodriguez-Torres, M. D. P.; Acosta-Torres, L. S.; Diaz-Torres, L. A.; Grillo, R.; Swamy, M. K.; Sharma, S.; Habtemariam, S.; Shin, H. S. Nano Based Drug Delivery Systems: Recent Developments and Future Prospects 10 Technology 1007 Nanotechnology 03 Chemical Sciences 0306 Physical Chemistry (Incl. Structural) 03 Chemical Sciences 0303 Macromolecular and Materials Chemistry 11 Medical and He. *J. Nanobiotechnology* 2018, *16* (1), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-018-0392-8.
- (139) Kou, L.; Sun, J.; He, Z. The Endocytosis and Intracellular Fate of Nanomedicines.Pdf. *Pharm. Sci.* 2013, 8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajps.2013.07.001.
- (140) Son, G. H.; Lee, B. J.; Cho, C. W. Mechanisms of Drug Release from Advanced Drug Formulations Such as Polymeric-Based Drug-Delivery Systems and Lipid Nanoparticles. J. Pharm. Investig. 2017, 47 (4), 287–296. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40005-017-0320-1.
- (141) Sharma, G.; Kumar, A.; Sharma, S.; Mu, N.; Prakash, R.; Alothman, Z.; Tessema, G.
   Novel Development of Nanoparticles to Bimetallic Nanoparticles and Their
   Composites A Review. Elsevier 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksus.2017.06.012.
- (142) Zugazagoitia, J.; Guedes, C.; Ponce, S.; Ferrer, I.; Molina-Pinelo, S.; Paz-Ares, L. Current Challenges in Cancer Treatment. *Clin. Ther.* 2016, *38* (7), 1551–1566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinthera.2016.03.026.
- (143) Chen, W.; Zhang, J. Using Nanoparticles to Enable Simultaneous Radiation and Photodynamic Therapies for Cancer Treatment. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 2006, 6 (4), 1159–1166. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2006.327.

- (144) Coulet, P.; Blum, L. Biosensor Principles and Applications Google Libros; Dekker, M., Ed.; 1991; Vol. III.
- (145) Cao, S.; Zhang, L.; Chai, Y.; Yuan, R. Electrochemistry of Cholesterol Biosensor Based on a Novel Pt-Pd Bimetallic Nanoparticle Decorated Graphene Catalyst. *Talanta* 2013, 109, 167–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2013.02.002.
- (146) D.lowy, F.; M.D. Lowy1998. N. Engl. J. Med. 1998, 339 (8), 520–532. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199808203390806.
- (147) Bush, L. M. Infecciones por Staphylococcus aureus https://www.msdmanuals.com/es/hogar/infecciones/infecciones-bacterianas-bacteriasgrampositivas/infecciones-por-staphylococcus-aureus#v38708423\_es.
- (148) Ogston, A. Classics in Infectious Diseases. "On Abscesses". Alexander Ogston (1844-1929). *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 1984.
- (149) Rosenbach. Staphylococcus aureus https://www.bionity.com/en/encyclopedia/Staphylococcus\_aureus.html#Role\_in\_disea se (accessed Feb 23, 2021).
- (150) Marín, M.; Arroyo, R.; Espinosa-Martos, I.; Fernández, L.; Rodríguez, J. M. Identification of Emerging Human Mastitis Pathogens by MALDI-TOF and Assessment of Their Antibiotic Resistance Patterns. *Front. Microbiol.* 2017, 8 (JUL), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01258.
- (151) Yepez Moreno, G. Prevalencia de Staphylococcus Aureus Meticilino Resistente En Mucosa Nasal, UNIVERSIDAD CENTRAL DEL ECUADOR, 2018.
- (152) Thyssen, J. P.; Skov, L.; Egeberg, A. Cause-Specific Mortality in Adults with Dermatitis. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 2018, 78 (3), 506–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2017.10.032.
- (153) Hajjeh, R. A.; Reingold, A.; Weil, A.; Shutt, K.; Schuchat, A.; Perkins, B. A. Toxic Shock Syndrome in the United States: Surveillance Update, 1979-1996. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 1999, 5 (6), 807–810. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0506.990611.
- (154) Steer, A. C.; Tikoduadua, L. V.; Manalac, E. M.; Colquhoun, S.; Carapetis, J. R.; Maclennan, C. Validation of an Integrated Management of Childhood Illness Algorithm for Managing Common Skin Conditions in Fiji. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 2009, 87 (3), 173–179. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.08.052712.
- (155) Gunderson, C. G.; Cherry, B. M.; Fisher, A. Do Patients with Cellulitis Need to Be Hospitalized? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Mortality Rates of Inpatients with Cellulitis. *J. Gen. Intern. Med.* **2018**, *33* (9), 1553–1560.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-018-4546-z.

- (156) Arif, N.; Yousfi, S.; Vinnard, C. Deaths from Necrotizing Fasciitis in the United States, 2003-2013. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 2016, *144* (6), 1338–1344. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268815002745.
- (157) De la Calle, C.; Morata, L.; Cobos-Trigueros, N.; Martinez, J. A.; Cardozo, C.; Mensa, J.; Soriano, A. Staphylococcus Aureus Bacteremic Pneumonia. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 2016, *35* (3), 497–502. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-015-2566-8.
- (158) Kadariya, J.; Smith, T. C.; Thapaliya, D. Staphylococcus Aureus and Staphylococcal Food-Borne Disease: An Ongoing Challenge in Public Health. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2014, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/827965.
- (159) Bermejo, J.; Gianello, M.; Pascale, M. L.; Borda, N.; Freije, J.; Notario, R.
  Staphylococcus Aureus En Muestras de Orina. *Enferm. Infecc. Microbiol. Clin.* 2013, 31 (6), 389–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eimc.2012.12.008.
- (160) Laupland, K. B.; Church, D. L. Population-Based Epidemiology and Microbiology of Community-Onset Bloodstream Infections. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 2014, 27 (4), 647– 664. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00002-14.
- (161) Abdallah, L.; Remadi, J. P.; Habib, G.; Salaun, E.; Casalta, J. P.; Tribouilloy, C. Long-Term Prognosis of Left-Sided Native-Valve Staphylococcus Aureus Endocarditis. *Arch. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 2016, 109 (4), 260–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acvd.2015.11.012.
- (162) Huang, W. C.; Lee, C. H.; Liu, J. W. Clinical Characteristics and Risk Factors for Mortality in Patients with Meningitis Caused by Staphylococcus Aureus and Vancomycin Minimal Inhibitory Concentrations Against These Isolates. J. Microbiol. Immunol. Infect. 2010, 43 (6), 470–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1684-1182(10)60073-4.
- (163) McHenry, M. C.; Easley, K. A.; Locker, G. A. Vertebral Osteomyelitis: Long-Term Outcome for 253 Patients from 7 Cleveland-Area Hospitals. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 2002, *34* (10), 1342–1350. https://doi.org/10.1086/340102.
- (164) Mínguez, S.; Molinos, S.; Mateo, L.; Gimenez, M.; Mateu, L.; Cabello, J.; Olivé, A. Septic Arthritis Due to Methylcyllin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus in Adults. *Reumatol. Clínica (English Ed.* 2015, *11* (6), 381–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reumae.2015.09.002.
- (165) Gotte, M.; Berghuis, A.; Matlashewski, G.; Wainberg, M. A.; Sheppard, D. Handbook of Antimicrobial Resistance; 2017. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-0694-9.

- (166) National Institute and Infectious Diseases. Staphylococcal Infections Treatments https://medlineplus.gov/staphylococcalinfections.html (accessed Mar 13, 2021).
- (167) Lowy, F. Antimicrobial Resistance: The Example of Staphylococcus Aureus. *J. Clin. Invest.* 2003. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI200318535.The Science in Medicine series is supported in part by a generous grantfrom the Doris Duke Charitable Foundation.Address correspondence to: Franklin D. Lowy, Division ofInfectious Diseases, Departments of Medicine and Pathology,Columbia University, College of Physicians and Surgeons, 630 West 168th Street, New York, New York 10032, USA. Phone: (212) 305-5787; Fax: (212) 305-5794; E-mail: fl189@columbia.edu.Conflict of interest: The author has received research supportfrom Gl.
- (168) Desenclos, J. C.; Guillemot, D. Consequences of Bacterial Resistance to Antimicrobial Agents. *Emerging infectious diseases*. 2004, pp 759–760. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1004.030754.
- (169) World Health Organization. Antibacterial Resistance. 2020, No. July.
- (170) Zhang, S.; Wang, Y.; Song, H.; Lu, J.; Yuan, Z.; Guo, J. Copper Nanoparticles and Copper Ions Promote Horizontal Transfer of Plasmid-Mediated Multi-Antibiotic Resistance Genes across Bacterial Genera | Elsevier Enhanced Reader. *Elsevier Science*. 2019, p 10. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.05.054.
- (171) Arora, N.; Thangavelu, K.; Karanikolos, G. N. Bimetallic Nanoparticles for Antimicrobial Applications. *Frontiers in Chemistry*. 2020. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2020.00412.
- (172) Baptista, P. V.; McCusker, M. P.; Carvalho, A.; Ferreira, D. A.; Mohan, N. M.;
  Martins, M.; Fernandes, A. R. Nano-Strategies to Fight Multidrug Resistant Bacteria-"A Battle of the Titans". *Front. Microbiol.* 2018, 9 (JUL). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01441.
- (173) Lesniak, A.; Salvati, A.; Santos-Martinez, M. J.; Radomski, M. W.; Dawson, K. A.; Åberg, C. Nanoparticle Adhesion to the Cell Membrane and Its Effect on Nanoparticle Uptake Efficiency. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135* (4), 1438–1444. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja309812z.
- (174) Sarwar, A.; Katas, H.; Samsudin, S. N.; Zin, N. M. Regioselective Sequential Modification of Chitosan via Azide-Alkyne Click Reaction: Synthesis, Characterization, and Antimicrobial Activity of Chitosan Derivatives and Nanoparticles. *PLoS One* **2015**, *10* (4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123084.
- (175) Nagy, A.; Harrison, A.; Subbani, S.; Munson, R.; Dutta, P.; Waldman, J. Silver-

Nanoparticles-Embedded-in-Zeolite-Membranes Antibac.Pdf. Int. J. Nanomedicine 2011. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S24019.

- (176) Li, Y.; Zhang, W.; Niu, J.; Chen, Y. Mechanism of Photogenerated Reactive Oxygen Species and Correlation with the Antibacterial Properties of Engineered Metal-Oxide Nanoparticles. ACS Nano 2012, 6 (6), 5164–5173. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn300934k.
- (177) Zhang, L.; Wu, Y. Sol-Gel Synthesized Magnetic MnFe2O4 Spinel Ferrite Nanoparticles as Novel Catalyst for Oxidative Degradation of Methyl Orange. J. Nanomater. 2013, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/640940.
- (178) Slomberg, D. L.; Lu, Y.; Broadnax, A. D.; Hunter, R. A.; Carpenter, A. W.;
  Schoenfisch, M. H. Role of Size and Shape on Biofilm Eradication for Nitric Oxide-Releasing Silica Nanoparticles. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* 2013, 5 (19), 9322–9329. https://doi.org/10.1021/am402618w.
- (179) Pan, X.; Wang, Y.; Chen, Z.; Pan, D.; Cheng, Y.; Liu, Z.; Lin, Z.; Guan, X. Investigation of Antibacterial Activity and Related Mechanism of a Series of Nano-Mg(OH)2. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2013, 5 (3), 1137–1142. https://doi.org/10.1021/am302910q.
- (180) Nair, L. S.; Laurencin, C. T. Silver Nanoparticles: Synthesis and Therapeutic Applications. J. Biomed. Nanotechnol. 2007, 3 (4), 301–316. https://doi.org/10.1166/jbn.2007.041.
- (181) Albanese, A.; Tang, P. S.; Chan, W. C. W. The Effect of Nanoparticle Size, Shape, and Surface Chemistry on Biological Systems. *Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng.* 2012, *14*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071811-150124.
- (182) Hong, X.; Wen, J.; Xiong, X.; Hu, Y. Shape Effect on the Antibacterial Activity of Silver Nanoparticles Synthesized via a Microwave-Assisted Method. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2016, 23 (5), 4489–4497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-5668-z.
- (183) Actis, L.; Srinivasan, A.; Lopez-Ribot, J. L.; Ramasubramanian, A. K.; Ong, J. L. Effect of Silver Nanoparticle Geometry on Methicillin Susceptible and Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus, and Osteoblast Viability. *J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med.* 2015, 26 (7). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-015-5538-8.
- (184) Guardia, L.; Paredes, J. I.; Solı, P.; Tasco, J. M. D. Vitamin C Is Ideal Substitute for Hydrazine in the Reduction of Graphene Oxide Suspensions. *Am. Chem. Soc.* 2010, 6426–6432. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp100603h.
- (185) Ran, N.; Knop, D. R.; Draths, K. M.; Frost, J. W. Benzene-Free Synthesis of Hydroquinone. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123 (44), 10927–10934.

https://doi.org/10.1021/ja016460p.

- (186) Spirin, M. G.; Brichkin, S. B.; Razumov, V. F. Synthesis and Stabilization of Gold Nanoparticles in Reverse Micelles of Aerosol OT and Triton X-100. *Colloid J.* 2005, 67 (4), 485–490. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10595-005-0122-4.
- (187) Valdez, J.; Gomez, I. One-Step Green Synthesis of Metallic Nanoparticles Using Sodium Alginate. J. Nanomater. 2016, 2016, 7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9790345.
- (188) Mallikarjuna, K.; Nasif, O.; Ali Alharbi, S.; Chinni, S. V; Veeranjaneya Reddy, L.; Reddy Vasudeva Reddy, M.; Sreeramanan, S. Phytogenic Synthesis of Pd-Ag/RGO Nanostructures Using Stevia Leaf Extract for Photocatalytic H 2 Production and Antibacterial Studies. 2021. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11020190.
- (189) Ali, G. W.; El-Hotaby, W.; Hemdan, B.; Abdel-Fattah, W. I. Thermosensitive Chitosan/Phosphate Hydrogel-Composites Fortified with Ag versus Ag@Pd for Biomedical Applications. *Life Sci.* 2018, 194, 185–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2017.12.021.

## APPENDIX

a. Calculation of the mortality rates from the reported cases from the literature.

Type of Infection	Illness	ss Reported deaths		Ref
	Folliculitis	1,15	1000	152
Cutaneous	Toxic Shock Syndrome	208	5296	153
	Impetigo	16	1000	154
	Necrotizing fasciitis	4,8	1000000	155
	Mastitis	4,4	143	156
Respiratory	Pneumonia	15 46		157
Gastrointestinal	Intoxication	1300	56000	158
System	Urinary	10	125	159
	Bacteriemia	81	650	160
Circulatory System	Endocarditis	41	162	160
	Meningitis	12	37	162

b.	Analysis	without scale of controlled synthesis for KIVIAT/Radar chart
<b>·</b> ·	1 11101 9 010	

	Ag-Pd	Au-Pd	Ag-Pd	Au-Pd	Ag-Pd	Ag-Pd
Method	Solvotherm al	Ultrasoni c	Galvanic Replaceme nt	Electrochemic al	Biologic al	Biological
Shape	Spherical	Spherical	Hollow	Sheet	Spherical	Rhombohedr al
Size (nm)	10	10	15	10	10	7
Time (h)	6	3	0,66	4,5	1	1
Temperatur e	120	50	60	80	60	90
(°C) M1						
precursor concentratio	3,75	1,50	2	2,50	1,41	1,00
n (mM)						
M2 precursor						
concentratio n	3,75	3,92	4,7	2,50	3,92	0,00
(mM)	101	124	123	115	188	189
Kef.	101	124	123	115	100	107